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Agenda Item 1
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY
WOODHILL HOUSE, ABERDEEN
FRIDAY 30 JUNE, 2017
Present:

Councillors D A Aitchison, M Boulton, J Cooke, J B Cox, A Forsyth
(as substitute for Cllr B A Topping), R Grant, PJ Johnston, D
Lonchay (as substitute for Cllr A Wallace), S Macdonald (as
substitute for Cllr G Graham), and I Mollison (as substitute for Cllr
J Latham).

Apologies:

Councillors G Graham, J Latham, B A Topping, and A Wallace.

Officers: -

Strategic Development Planning Authority: Strategic
Development Plan Manager and Senior Planner.
Aberdeen City Council: Planning and Environmental Policy
Manager, Legal Advisors (L Cameron and F Closs), and Planner
(S Omondi).
Aberdeenshire Council: Head of Planning and Building
Standards, Planning Service Manager (B Stewart), Accountant (B
Allan), Senior Information and Research Officer (S Shaw), and
Committee Officer (J McRobbie).
Audit Scotland – Senior Audit Manager (A MacDonald.)
1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR

The Strategic Development Plan Manager welcomed all to the first meeting of the
Strategic Development Planning Authority following the local government elections of
May 2017.
There had been circulated a report by the Strategic Development Plan Manager,
advising Members of the process for the election of the Chair and Vice-Chair of the
Authority.
Cllr Grant moved, seconded by Cllr Macdonald, that Cllr Marie Boulton be elected
Chair.
There being no further nominations,
The Authority unanimously resolved that Cllr Boulton Chair the Authority.
Cllr Boulton thereafter called for nominations for the position of Vice Chair of the
Authority.
Cllr Mollison moved, seconded by Cllr Lonchay, that Cllr Cox be elected Vice Chair.
There being no further nominations,
The Authority unanimously resolved that Cllr Cox be Vice Chair of the Authority.
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2. SEDERUNT AND DECLARATION OF MEMBERS’ INTEREST
Apologies were submitted from Cllrs Graham, Latham, Topping, and Wallace.
Cllr Macdonald declared an interest in item 4, (Housing Land Audit,) as Chair of
Langstane Housing Association, but as the interest was not considered significant,
indicated that she would remain and take part in the discussion.
3. MINUTE OF THE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY
MEETING OF 22 MARCH, 2017
The Authority had before them and resolved to approve as a correct record the
Minute of Meeting of 22 March, 2017.
4. HOUSING LAND AUDIT 2017
There had been circulated a joint report by the Interim Head of Planning and
Sustainable Development (Aberdeen City Council) and the Head of Planning and
Building Standards, (Aberdeenshire Council), detailing the results of the Housing
Land Audit (2017), as appended to the report, and its implications for the housing
land supply.
The report indicated that the Audit, measuring the quantity of land available for new
housing in Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire, demonstrated, to the Scottish
Government standard (Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) and Planning Advice Note
(PAN) 2/2010), that more than the minimum of five years effective land supply of
housing land was available in both housing market areas.
The Authority heard further from the Senior Information and Research Officer of the
details of the Audit and there were questions on (a) the Scottish Government’s
definitions of constrained sites, particularly where the constraint was defined as
‘marketability’; and (b) the relationship between market constrained smaller rural
sites (up to 10 houses) and the fall in the number of smaller housebuilder firms.
The Authority resolved: - to note the contents of the report.
5. SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING CONSULTATION – RESPONSE TO
ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL (FOOTBALL STADIUM, TRAINING PITCHES
AND FOOTBALL ACADEMY)
The Authority were advised that this report had been withdrawn on the advice of the
SDPA’s legal advisor and that the matter would be resolved as quickly as possible.
The Authority resolved:that officers respond to the application (in consultation with the chair and Vice Chair)
if the legal uncertainty can be overcome.
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6. STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY BUDGET
POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2017 – REPORT BY TREASURER
The Authority had before them a report dated 20 June, 2017, by the Treasurer to the
Strategic Development Planning Authority (SDPA) which presented the budget
monitoring position for 2016/17 as 31 March, 2017.
The report advised that, as at 31 March, 2017, both Councils had contributed equal
amounts of £95,000 to the budget, £11,000 more than the budget approved on 23
March 2016. This was the result of a late adjustment to the 2015/16 accounts which
resulted in expenditure, previously included, being excluded. The surplus created
had subsequently been used as income within the 2016/17 accounts. The surplus of
£40,000 would be transferred to Reserves and would either be used to offset any
potential costs arising from the legal challenge to the SDPA’s Supplementary
Guidance (Strategic Transport Fund) currently before the Supreme Court, or to
reduce the contributions for partner Councils going forward.
The Authority resolved:a)
b)

To note the budget monitoring position as at 31 March, 2017; and
To approve the transfer of £40,000 to Reserves.
7. 2017/17 ANNUAL AUDIT PLAN

There had been circulated a report by the Strategic Development Plan Manager
informing the Authority of the 2016/17 Annual Audit Plan, dated March 2017,
provided by Audit Scotland, which set out the audit work to be undertaken to provide
an opinion on the Authority’s financial statements and stewardship of financial
matters.
The Authority heard further from Anne MacDonald, Senior Audit Manager, Audit
Scotland, that the three areas on which external audit would focus were (a) risk
management override of controls; (b) changes in accounting requirements; and (c)
Aberdeenshire Council’s new payroll system.
Questions were asked on how the new payroll system was performing and Mr Allan
reported that whilst he was not aware of any operational issues from the Human
Resources side, it appeared that information was slower in coming to the Finance
Service. Ms MacDonald confirmed that Audit Scotland were not aware of any issues
regarding the payment of salaries, and that some initial teething issues on tax coding
appeared to have been resolved.
The Authority resolved:To note the external audit plan as reported.
8. UNAUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2016/2017 – REPORT BY
TREASURER
The Authority had before them a report dated 20 June, 2017 by the Treasurer to the
Strategic Development Planning Authority, presenting the Unaudited Annual
Accounts for 2016/17.
The Authority heard from Mr Allan, Accountant, that the audited statement of
accounts would be returned for final approval in September, 2017.
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The Authority resolved:To note the unaudited accounts for 2016/17 as set out in the report.
9. PLANNING PERFORMANCE REPORT 2016/17
There had been circulated a report by the Strategic Development Plan Manager,
requesting Members’ consideration of a Planning Performance Report for 2016/17,
its publication on the Authority’s website, and its submission to the Scottish
Government by 31 July, 2017.
Having heard further from the Strategic Development Plan Manager that the
performance report was combined with the Authority’s Annual Report, and would set
out what the Authority was, and what it was designed to achieve, and had achieved
over the past year, it was noted that that Section 3 of the report would be updated, to
take account of carbon emissions data at local authority level published earlier in the
week.
There was discussion of the presentation of statistical information and Members were
advised that the format of the Planning Performance Report was prescribed by
Scottish Government, and
The Authority resolved:(1) That the narrative on rights of attendance at SDPA meetings (compared to
NESTRANS) be clarified;
(2) That the pictures in section 6 be captioned;
(3) That section 3 be updated with new information about carbon emissions; and
(4) In all other respects to approve the Planning Performance Plan, as amended,
for submission to the Scottish Government and publication on the Authority’s
website.
10. SDPA BULLETIN – JUNE 2017
The Authority had before them an information bulletin prepared by the Strategic
Development Plan Manager which informed Members on key issues relating to the
work of the Authority where no decisions were currently required. Oral updates were
provided on each item since publication.
Details contained within the bulletin included:(1)

Strategic Transport Fund Update
In respect of the legal challenge in the Supreme Court to the Strategic
Transport Fund, the case was heard at The Supreme Court sitting in
Edinburgh on 13 June and the decision is awaited. This was the final stage in
the legal process and the court’s decision may be issued in time to be
reported to the Authority at its next meeting.

(2)

Local Development Plans
It was reported that both Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire’s Local
Development Plans had been adopted, the first two second generation local
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development plans nationally, contrasting with some areas where the first
generation plan had not been completed.
The Aberdeen City Local Development Plan, adopted on 20 January, 2017
had initially been subject to legal challenge, on the allocation of sites in the
Milltimber / Peterculter area; that challenge has been withdrawn. All planned
Supplementary Guidance has now been approved with the latest, relating to
Planning Obligations, being approved on 21 June, 2017.
Aberdeenshire’s Local Development Plan had been adopted on 17 April,
2017, and the period for legal challenge had expired without challenge.
There had been 9 additional elements of Supplementary Guidance approved
as part of the Plan.
(3)

Strategic Development Plans
It was reported that work on the initial consideration of a Main Issues Report
(MIR) for consultation, as part of the replacement strategic development plan,
scheduled to be considered at this meeting, had been delayed pending the
outcome of the Supreme Court challenge to the Strategic Transport Fund, the
work of the planning review, and the two recent elections. The report would
come to the next meeting, to be held on 20 September, 2017. Given the
changed membership of the Authority, the delay would allow for a further
workshop on the issues before the Main Issues Report was approved for
consultation.
The report indicated that, of the other strategic development plans across the
country, (a) Tayplan, more than five years old, was awaiting Ministers’
approval but that as Fife had not yet adopted their local development plan,
there might be further delay; (b) that there had been last minute
representations to Scottish Ministers after the Clydeplan examination and the
plan was still awaiting Ministers’ approval; and (c) that SESplan, where the
extant strategic development plan had been approved in 2013, had submitted
their plan to the Ministers following its approval at a meeting on 26 June,
2017.

(4)

Transport Scotland’s Rail Infrastructure Strategy Consultation
Responses to the Transport Scotland consultation on Rail Infrastructure,
closed on 24 February 2017, and including points made by the Authority as
well as Nestrans, leading on the north east perspective, were available to
view online. The Scottish Government High Level Output response was
anticipated over the summer. Two of the more pertinent issues for the
Authority were noted to be a proposed move to a more flexible, pipeline
approach to scheme delivery (which might reduce certainty about the delivery
as well as the timing of rail infrastructure, and the greater focus on service
connectivity rather than reducing journey times.

(5)

Household Projections
The National Records of Scotland (NRS) had published its 2016 Mid-Year
estimates of population which indicated that the number of people leaving the
area exceeded those arriving by about 300, bringing to an end a 14 year
period of continuous net in-migration. It was likely that this tied closely to
activity in the oil and gas sector.
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(6)

Housing Market Activity
Data from the Scottish Government (Housing Statistics for Scotland) and the
Registers of Scotland (Monthly Residential Property Market Statistics)
indicated that during the year to end 2016, City and Shire accounted for 10%
of all property sales by value and 12.8% of transactions, a sharp reduction in
peak since 2013. The average price was £206,952, approximately £22,000
less than peak but still higher than the Scottish average by £40,000.
Rental values had also fallen over the last two years in the Aberdeen area,
with average rents falling, across the different property sizes, by 31% since
the end of 2014.
The north east property market levels were therefore more in line with
national levels and appeared to have stabilised, the falling sale prices
appeared to be stabilising or slowing down, and rental values had fallen more
significantly than sale prices to levels seen at the last recession’s market
bottom.

(7)

Planning Applications of Strategic Importance
Two applications of strategic importance were currently subject to Authority
response – (a) 161429/PPP – for commercial retail development at Prime
Four Business Park, adjacent to the Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route
junction with the A944 (allocated as employment land in the 2017 Aberdeen
Local Development Plan); and (b) an application by Ashfield Land for a
mixed-use development with a large retail component at Blackdog, on the
A90/AWPR junction to the north of Aberdeen.
The Authority were advised that the application at Prime Four had been
withdrawn by the applicant, following the publication of a report
recommending refusal, and that the Blackdog proposal, referred to Scottish
Ministers following objection from Aberdeen City Council, had had its original
28 day period of consideration (which would have expired on 28 June, 2017),
extended by Ministers for an additional 28 days.

(8)

Batwind
Aberdeenshire Council had recently granted consent to an application from
Statoil to install batteries, associated with their Hywind floating project turbine.
This was part of a 30MW offshore windfarm and the Batwind project would
give an additional 1MW battery capacity. The project was being taken
forward in partnership with the Offshore Renewable Energy Catapult, the
Scottish Government, and Scottish Enterprise and was very experimental. If
successful, its impact on the future delivery and efficiency of renewable
energy products could be significant, by evening out peaks and troughs of
energy production to be released to the grid when it is more valuable. It could
also reduce the need for wasted energy when generation levels outstripped
demand. Turbines would be sited offshore Peterhead, with the batteries in
Peterhead itself.
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(9)

Scottish Government Consultation – “Places, People and Planning”
The Authority had been one of 474 respondents to the Scottish Government’s
consultation, “Places, People and Planning”, considering the matter at its
meeting on 22 March. Both Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire councils had
responded separately, along with NESTRANS, Community Planning
Aberdeen, NHS Grampian, Aberdeen & Grampian Chamber of Commerce,
four Aberdeen City and 9 Aberdeenshire Community Councils (including
Newmachar, not mentioned in the report), Old Aberdeen Heritage Society and
the North East Mountain Trust, along with various national bodies. The next
steps in the process, outlined in a letter from the Scottish Government’s Chief
Planner on 17 May, 2017 indicated that the responses were to be
independently analysed, with a final report expected to inform decisions by
Ministers informing future legislation. It was anticipated that a Planning Bill
would be drafted towards the end of 2017.
A position statement issued on 29 June indicated that there would not be
responses to individual submissions, but would allow opportunities for further
response to the Government. If the original proposals were to be adopted,
there would be a great need for clarity on the practicalities of replacing
strategic development plans with a national planning framework by 2020.

The Authority resolved:(1) That the Chair and Vice Chair approve any further submission to the Scottish
Government relating to the consultation on their position statement;
(2) That future such reports to the Authority continue to note progress on important
and innovative projects such as Batwind and Hywind; and
(3) To note, in all other respects, the content of the bulletin and oral updates.
11. DATE OF FUTURE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY
MEETINGS
The Authority noted the scheduled meeting dates for the 2017/18 diary:



20 September, 2017 at 10.00am at Aberdeen City Town House;
20 December, 2017 at 2.00pm at Woodhill House; and
21 March, 2018 at 2.00pm at Aberdeen City Town House

Cllr Marie Boulton
Chair
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Agenda Item 2

Item:
Page: 1

ABERDEEN CITY & SHIRE
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY
Date:

20 September 2017

Title:

AUDITED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2016/17

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

This report submits the audited Annual Accounts for 2016/17 to be approved
by the Strategic Development Planning Authority (SDPA) for signature and for
the information of the Authority, the Independent Auditor’s Report on the audit.

2

Background

2.1

Local Authorities and similar bodies are required to ensure that they
demonstrate proper stewardship of their financial affairs. The Annual Accounts,
together with the opinion expressed by the independent auditor on the activities
of the Authority, is designed to meet these requirements.

2.2

The independent auditor for the Authority, Audit Scotland, has expressed an
unmodified opinion on these Statements and this is detailed in pages 14 and
16 of Appendix 1, the Annual Accounts.

2.3

It is also a requirement of the governing regulations that the audited financial
statements will be made available for public inspection. The audited Annual
Accounts will be available on the Authority’s website and can be accessed and
downloaded free of charge.

3

Statement of Accounts 2016/17

3.1

The audited Annual Accounts is attached as Appendix 1, is prepared in
accordance with the Code of Practice for Local Authority Accounting in the UK.
The document comprises a number of statements, but Members’ attention is
drawn to the following main items in particular:
Page
Page

2-5

Management Commentary

14 - 16 Independent Auditor’s Report

Page

17

Movement in Reserves Statements

Page

18

Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement

Page

19

Balance Sheet showing the SDPA audited financial position as
at 31 March 2017.
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Item:

Page: 2

3.2

Other prescribed financial statements are included as required along with
supporting notes to the statements where these are considered appropriate.
There are no Group Accounts to be commented upon.

3.3

Regular budget monitoring statements had been produced throughout the year
and it had been anticipated that the budget would be underspent, largely due
to a reduced need to employ third party contractors for discrete elements of
work.

3.4

The actual contributions from the partner Councils was £191,000 which is
£23,000 greater than the budgeted amount and the costs incurred of £158,000
is slightly less than expected. The table on page 3 of the audited Accounts
provides details of the actual performance of the major income and expenditure
headings compared to the budgeted level of activity.

3.5

The independent auditor’s report to the Authority, which is included as a
separate item on the agenda, is an important aspect of the auditor’s work in
expressing an opinion on the Annual Accounts. The report covers the principal
matters or issues that have arisen from the audit process and provides a useful
commentary on the Authority’s performance, corporate governance and best
value achievement as well as a review of areas of significant audit risk. The
report is very positive and attests to the strengths of the systems and controls
we have in place to manage the financial activities of the Authority. There are
no outstanding issues which have to be addressed.

4.

Recommendations

4.1

The Authority is recommended to:
1 Approve for signature the audited Statement of Accounts for 2016/17

Alan Wood
Treasurer
11 September 2017
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ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY
Introduction
The "Strategic Development Planning Authority" (SDPA) was designated by Scottish
Government Ministers on 25 June 2008 under the Planning etc. (Scotland) Act 2006. The
SDPA has 12 members, with six being appointed by both Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire
Councils. The Chair and Vice Chair of the SDPA rotate on a 2 yearly cycle.
The Designation Order required Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire Councils to jointly
prepare and keep under review a strategic development plan for a strategic development
plan area. The terms of reference agreed by the two Councils required that, prior to the start
of work on a strategic development plan, the SDPA would take forward work on a structure
plan commenced by the two Councils in early 2007. The Aberdeen City and Shire Structure
Plan was approved by Scottish Ministers in August 2009.
Since then, work has focused on its implementation, monitoring and the preparation of the
Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan (SDP) which was approved by
Scottish Ministers on 28 March 2014. It is a robust and visionary plan for the future
development of the area, identifying the need for a significant increase in historic levels of
housing and commercial development as well as the infrastructure required to deliver it.
Progress against Performance Indicators
The annual Planning Performance Report, Aberdeen City and Shire | Strategic Development
Planning Authority - Publications, which is submitted to the Scottish Government early in the
financial year, gives a comprehensive overview of the achievements and performance of the
SDPA during the year. The influence of a Strategic Development Plan has a longer
timescale than one year and annual indicators of performance are not considered
appropriate. There is close analysis of key trend areas over time to consider the
appropriateness of the plan.
The Strategic Development Plan, Housing Land Audit and Employment Land Audit all
highlight the aspirational nature of the SDPA. Significant quantities of land are now available
to the development industry as a result of the strategic framework set by the SDPA.
The Plan targets national recognition for schemes and award winning schemes are being
identified to the SDPA on a regular basis.
The SDPA has been awarded a number Plain English Campaign “Crystal Marks” which
recognises the quality of the communications issued. Regular use of the SDPA’s website
through its E-update system allows interested parties access to the most up to date
information and the website is highly rated by major search engines.
No performance indicators have been specifically identified to measure financial
performance. However, the SDPA agrees a budget in advance of each year and considers a
detailed budget monitoring report with a forecast for the year of income and expenditure at
each meeting. This allows regular and close scrutiny of activities against specific financial
targets to take place and is considered adequate for this organisation.
Financial Performance Review
The SDPA’s core funding and the support for its strategic programme from partner Councils
reflects their continued support. The budget provision was £172,000 (2015/16: £171,000).

2
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
Review of Outturn against Budget for 2016/17
The outturn for 2016/17 was within budget because of recruitment difficulties and a reduced
need to employ third party contractors for discrete elements of work. The total operating
expenses were £158,467 which is £13,533 less than budget. In anticipation of a potentially
significant Legal Expenses charge in 2017/18 the actual surplus of £32,533 was transferred
to Reserves.
Fuller details of the performance against budget is detailed below.
2015/16
Actual

2016/17
Budget

2016/17
Actual

£000

£000

£000

%
Actual
v
Budget

Partner Council Requisitions
Other Income

101
-

168
4

191
-

114%
0%

Total Income

101

172

191

111%

69
32

113
59

100
58

88%
98%

101

172

158

92%

-

-

33

Staff Costs
Other Costs
Total Operating Expenses

Net Surplus/(Deficit)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risks facing the SDPA, as with many such bodies, is the reliance on third party
funding to support its annual programme.
The relationships with partners are close and each local authority partner has identified
indicative budgets for the contributions for the next 5 years and appointed senior members
of their staff to act as professional advisors to support the SDPA Manager. This ensures
engagement is maintained between parties at a senior corporate level.
We are confident that all material risks facing the SDPA are known and that appropriate
measures are in place to overcome or at least mitigate the impact that these may have on
the continued operation of the SDPA.
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
In addition, and particularly relevant to the SDPA, over the last two years the Scottish
Government has been reviewing the operation of the planning system in Scotland. The
SDPA has been actively involved in the process from the beginning most recently
responding to the Scottish Government’s ‘Places, People and Planning’ consultation at its
March 2017 meeting. The consultation proposed removing strategic development plans from
the planning system and for strategic planners to support more proactive regional
partnership working, it further proposed that existing SDPA’s either form part of, or are
replaced with, partnerships whose membership extends beyond planning. Around 500
responses were submitted in response to the consultation but it won’t be until mid-2017
before the Scottish Government announces what it intends to pursue in terms of legislative
and structural change.
Main Trends and Factors Likely to Affect the Future Development, Performance and
Position of the SDPA's Business
The Strategic Development Plan which has been approved by Scottish Government
Ministers outlines the key issues that the SDPA will contribute towards and this will influence
the relationships and direction of travel that the SDPA may follow. This is a developing area
and the SDPA has developed a structure that allows an agile approach towards positioning
itself to accommodate any significant changes affecting this sector and in particular those
that have been identified in the wider development plans for the region.
The SDPA, with the explicit financial backing of the partnership Councils, have engaged
Legal Counsel in order to contest a legal challenge to the adoption of the supplementary
guidance within the SDPA’s ‘Strategic Transport Fund’. The SDPA lost a legal challenge
early in 2016/17 but have been granted leave to appeal to the Supreme Court, with the
hearing being set for the 13 June 2017. Before beginning the appeal process the SDPA
sought and obtained agreement from both Councils that any potential costs associated with
losing the appeal would be underwritten by the Councils, therefore not jeopardising the
longer-term financial stability of the SDPA itself.
Annual Accounts
The SDPA is required to prepare Annual Accounts by the Local Authority Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2014, which section 12 of the Local Government in Scotland Act
2003 requires to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the
United Kingdom 2016/17 (the Code), supported by International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and statutory guidance issued under section 12 of the 2003 Act.
Going Concern
The budget for 2017/18 with funding levels in line with 2016/17 and indicative budgets for
2018/19 confirm that sufficient funding is available beyond September 2018 and so the
Board has a reasonable expectation that the SDPA will continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. It is therefore considered appropriate to adopt a going concern basis
for the preparation of these statements.

4
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
Audit Information
The SDPA and Manager at the date of this report confirms that:



So far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the SDPA’s
auditor is unaware; and
They have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member or officer in
order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the SDPA’s auditor is aware of that.

Remuneration Paid to the Auditor for Non-Audit Work
No remuneration was paid to the SDPA’s external auditor for non-audit work during 2016/17.
Pension Liabilities
The SDPA does not have staff of its own. All officers are employed by Aberdeenshire
Council and are entitled to be members of the Superannuation Scheme which is
administered by Aberdeen City Council. This provides staff with defined benefits upon their
retirement and the employing Authority contributes towards the costs by making
contributions based on a percentage of members’ pensionable salaries. There is no liability
for pension related costs falling on the SDPA.
Events since the End of the Financial Year
We are not aware of any adjusting event that would have impacted on the reliability of the
information presented in this report or financial statements.
Future Developments
Future developments will generally be identified from change in Government or local
authority policy, changes in the development plan and / or wider economic changes in the
region. Close links are maintained with appropriate government departments and the
Strategic Development Plan is regularly refreshed which will ensure that arising issues are
identified early enough to allow any appropriate action to be taken to re-position the SDPA
and its activities.

Councillor Marie Boulton
Chair

David Jennings
Manager

20 September 2017
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Alan Wood
Treasurer

REMUNERATION REPORT
Introduction
The remuneration report has been prepared in accordance with the Local Authority Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2014. These Regulations require various disclosures about the
remuneration and pension benefits of senior Councillors and senior employees in respect of
earnings etc paid by the SDPA. The SDPA does not make payment to any member of the
SDPA, whether elected Member or otherwise appointed, by way of salary, enhanced
pension benefits or reimbursement of expenses.
The Treasurer and Clerk to the SDPA do not receive remuneration from the SDPA. The
duties of the posts are covered by the post holder’s substantive posts in their respective
Councils.
The information disclosed in the tables below is subject to independent audit.
Arrangements for Remuneration
The Manager of the SDPA is treated as a relevant person under the accounts regulations,
although he is employed by Aberdeenshire Council, and his remuneration, along with other
staff in relation to their role at the SDPA is set by reference to national arrangements agreed
by the Scottish Joint Negotiating Committee (SJNC) for Local Authority Services.
SDPA does not pay bonuses or performance related pay. Officers receive business mileage
and subsistence allowances in accordance with amounts either agreed nationally by SJNC
or as approved locally by Aberdeenshire Council and adopted by SDPA. Officers are eligible
to join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).
Remuneration
The term remuneration means gross salary, fees and bonuses, allowances and expenses,
and compensation for loss of employment. It excludes pension contributions paid by the
Employer. Pension contributions made to a person’s pension are disclosed as part of the
pension benefits disclosure below.
Remuneration of Senior Employees
Total Remuneration for Year
Non-cash
Gross
expenses
salary,
&
Compensation
Taxable
Total
Total
fees &
benefitsfor loss of
2016/17 2015/16
allowances Bonuses Expenses
in-kind
office
£’s

£’s

£’s

£’s

£’s

£’s

£’s

David
Jennings:
Manager

54,381

-

-

-

-

54,381

53,852

Totals

54,381

-

-

-

-

54,381

53,852
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
Exit Packages
There is a requirement to disclose details of all staff Exit Packages agreed in the year. An
Exit Package is the value of all termination benefits which include redundancy costs, pension
contributions in respect of added years and any ex gratia and other departure costs. The
SDPA has not agreed any Exit Packages in 2016/17 (2015/16 – £Nil).
Notes
The term senior employee means:
1. Any employee who has responsibility for the management of the SDPA to the extent
that the person has the power to direct or control the major activities of the SDPA
(including activities involving the expenditure of money), during the year to which the
Report relates, whether solely or collectively with other persons;
2. Who holds a post that is politically restricted by reason of section 2(1) (a), (b) or (c)
of Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (4); or
3. Whose annual remuneration, including any remuneration from a local authority
subsidiary body, is £150,000 or more.
Remuneration of Employees receiving more than £50,000
There is one SDPA employee receiving more than £50,000 remuneration for the year, falling
into the £50,000 - £54,999 band. As he is a senior employee he is subject to the full
disclosure requirements in the table above.
Pension Benefits
The term pension benefits covers in-year pension contributions for the employee by the
Council and the named person’s accrued pension benefits at the reporting date.
Pension Benefits of Senior Employees
In-year pension
contributions
For year to For year to
31 March
31 March
2017
2016
£’s
£’s

Accrued annual
pension benefits
As at
As at
31 March 31 March
2017
2016
£’s
£’s

Accrued pension
Lump Sum
As at
As at
31 March 31 March
2017
2016
£’s
£’s

David
Jennings:
Manager

10,496

10,393

14,701

13,327

21,111

20,700

Totals

10,496

10,393

14,701

13,327

21,111

20,700

Notes:
All employees working for SDPA are eligible to become members of the Local Government
Pension Scheme (LGPS).
The LGPS provides defined benefits on retirement. The pension is based on the member’s
pensionable service (how long he or she has been a member of the LGPS) and his or her
pay. For officers with service before 1 April 2015 the pension is based on their final year’s
salary. For most people, with service up to 31 March 2009, the annual pension is calculated
by dividing their pay by 80 (60 for service after 31 March 2009) and multiplying this by their
total membership. For service after the 31 March 2015, the annual pension uses a career
average methodology and is calculated by dividing the pensionable pay by 49 and adding
this to their cumulative pension account, this in turn will be adjusted in line with the cost of
living.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
Pensions payable are increased annually in line with changes in The Pensions (Increase)
Act 1971 and Section 59 of the Social Security Pension Act 1975.
The lump sum, which is automatically paid when the person retires, for service up to 31
March 2009, is normally three times his or her annual pension and is tax-free. There is no
automatic lump sum for service after 31 March 2009. Members may opt to give up
(commute) pension for lump sum up to the limit set by the Finance Act 2004.
A Scheme member’s contribution depends on his or her full-time equivalent pay. From 1
April 2009, a five tier contribution system was introduced with contribution from members
being based on how much pay falls into each tier. The tiers and rates for 2016-2017
remained the same as the 2015-2016 rates.
The tiers and rates are now as follows:
Up to and including £20,500 - 5.5%,
Above £20,500 and up to £25,000 - 7.25%,
Above £25,000 and up to £34,400 - 8.5%,
Above £34,400 and up to £45,800 - 9.5%, and
Above £45,800 - 12%.
The value of the accrued benefits in the above table has been calculated on the basis of the
age at which the person will first become entitled to receive a full pension on retirement
without reduction on account of its payment at that age; without exercising any option to
commute pension entitlement into a lump sum; and without any adjustment for the effects of
future inflation.
For benefits that have been accrued up to 31 March 2015 that pension will be paid in full
upon retirement as long as the member has reached the age of 65. For benefits that are
accrued after the 1 April 2015 there may be a reduction if the member retires before their
“Normal Pension Age”.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the person has accrued as
consequence of their total local government service, and not just their current appointment.
The above explanatory notes provide general information on the Local Government Pension
Scheme and do not override the provisions of the Scheme.

Councillor Marie Boulton
Chair
Strategic Development Planning
Authority

David Jennings
Manager

20 September 2017
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The Strategic Development Planning Authority has a responsibility for ensuring that its
business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public
money is safeguarded, properly accounted for, and used appropriately. This would include
making arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions
are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
In discharging this responsibility the Strategic Development Plan Manager and Treasurer
have put in place proper arrangements for the governance of resources, approved by the
SDPA. The Strategic Development Planning Authority has adopted a Code of Corporate
Governance which ensures the accountability and probity of officers. The Code is consistent
with the principles and reflects the requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in Local Government (2016) as set out in Delivering Good
Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016).
The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, cultures and values by
which the SDPA is directed and controlled, and the activities used to engage with and lead
the community. It enables the SDPA to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives
and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, costeffective services.
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to
manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies,
aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the SDPA’s policies, aims and
objectives, to evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of those risks being realised, and
to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically
The system of corporate governance and internal financial control is based on a framework
of financial regulations, management information and appropriate delegation with
accountability. In particular, the system includes:







The SDPA’s Scheme of Governance, comprising Standing Orders, Delegations,
Financial Regulations and Guidance;
Management information;
Performance and risk management;
Comprehensive financial management systems;
Periodic and annual financial reports;
Clearly defined expenditure guidelines; and
Periodic review of all financial procedures.
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)
The corporate governance and internal control procedures are informed by:




Feedback from Councillors and the SDPA Board in carrying out its scrutiny role;
The work of the Manager within the SDPA;
Internal Audit & External Audit; and
Partner and stakeholder feedback.

Review of Effectiveness
The review of the effectiveness of the governance framework, including the system of
internal control, is carried out throughout the year by various means involving:






Reports to the Board;
The Head of Legal and Governance who is the statutory Monitoring Officer in terms of
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and provides legal advice to Councillors
and senior officers;
The Treasurer who has statutory responsibility for the SDPA’s financial affairs in terms of
Section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973. His responsibilities are set out
in the Statement of Responsibilities;
Internal Audit which is an independent review function of the SDPA and is responsible
for the internal audit of all financial and non-financial systems of the SDPA and both
Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire Council; and
External organisations that carry out independent audits or inspections of the SDPA.
These include external audit by auditors appointed by the Accounts Commission.

The SDPA’s Code of Corporate Governance and the related systems of internal financial
control provide reasonable assurance that objectives will be met. The Strategic
Development Planning Authority adheres to the principles of openness, integrity and
accountability and takes all reasonable steps to ensure assets are safeguarded, transactions
are authorised and properly recorded, procedures are practical and adhered to and that
material errors are either prevented or detected within a timely period, and corrective action
taken.
Progress continues to be made in respect of risk management. Risk Management is viewed
as essential in the context of financial governance. An increase in the awareness and
consequences of risk have become more prevalent within the SDPA. The consideration of
risk has been recognised in the budget setting report and will be considered in all financial
governance procedures.
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)
The SDPA relies on the financial systems of Aberdeenshire Council. Aberdeenshire
Council’s Chief Internal Auditor has the responsibility to review independently, and report to
the Council’s Audit Committee annually on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s
internal control environment. The Chief Internal Auditor reports that, in his opinion, based on
his evaluation of the Council’s control environment, reasonable assurance can be placed
upon the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system in the year to 31 March
2017. On the basis of the Chief Internal Auditor’s report to Aberdeenshire Council’s Audit
Committee, we are satisfied that the arrangements provide assurance, are adequate and are
operating effectively.
Action Plan
While the review of effectiveness provides reasonable assurance, the SDPA is addressing
the following matters which were identified during the year:


Review and update of the risk register



Refresh of the Local Code of Corporate Governance.

Signed:

Councillor Marie Boulton,
Chair

David Jennings, Manager

20 September 2017
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
The SDPA’s Responsibilities

The SDPA is required to:






make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to ensure that
one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this
case, that officer is the Treasurer to the SDPA;
ensure the Annual Accounts are prepared in accordance with legislation (The Local
Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014), and so far as is compatible with that
legislation, in accordance with proper accounting practices (section 12 of the Local
Government in Scotland Act 2003;
manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and
safeguard its assets; and
approve the Annual Accounts for signature.

I confirm that these Annual Accounts were approved for signature by the Board at its
meeting on 20 September 2017.

Councillor Marie Boulton,
Chair
20 September 2017
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The Treasurer’s Responsibilities
The Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the SDPA’s Annual Accounts in
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).
In preparing the Annual Accounts, the Treasurer has:





selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;
made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent;
complied with legislation; and
complied with the Code (in so far as it is compatible with legislation).

The Treasurer has also:



kept proper accounting records which were up to date; and
taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

In preparing the 2016/17 accounts corrections have been made to the 2015/16 figures as
approved by the Board on the 21 September 2016, to fully reflect the audit position which
included a late adjustment of £23,000 to reduce the level of legal expenses charged to the
2015/16 accounts.
I certify that the Annual Accounts give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
SDPA at the reporting date and the transactions of the SDPA for the year ended 31 March
2017.

Alan Wood, MA (Hons), CPFA
Treasurer
20 September 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE ABERDEEN CITY
AND SHIRE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY AND THE
ACCOUNTS COMMISSION
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with Part VII
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 and for no other purpose. In accordance with
paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Accounts Commission, I do not
undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to
third parties.

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion on financial statements
I certify that I have audited the financial statements in the annual accounts of Aberdeen City
and Shire Strategic Development Planning Authority for the year ended 31 March 2017
under Part VII of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973. The financial statements
comprise the Movement in Reserves Statement, Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement, Balance Sheet and Cash-Flow Statement, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and
adapted by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
2016/17 (the 2016/17 Code).
In my opinion the accompanying financial statements:


give a true and fair view in accordance with applicable law and the 2016/17 Code of
the state of affairs of the authority as at 31 March 2017 and of its surplus on the
provision of services for the year then ended;



have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 2016/17 Code; and



have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government
(Scotland) Act 1973, The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, and
the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003.

Basis of opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing in the UK and Ireland (ISAs (UK&I)). My responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
section of my report. I am independent of the authority in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in the UK including the
Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for Auditors, and I have fulfilled my other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit
evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
Responsibilities of the Treasurer for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Treasurer is responsible for
the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as the Treasurer determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
My responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable legal requirements and ISAs (UK&I) as required by the Code of
Audit Practice approved by the Accounts Commission. Those standards require me to
comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. An audit
involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the authority and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the Treasurer; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.
My objectives are to achieve reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK&I)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
Other information in the annual accounts
The Treasurer is responsible for the other information in the annual accounts. The other
information comprises the information other than the financial statements and my auditor’s
report thereon. My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on matters
prescribed by the Accounts Commission to the extent explicitly stated later in this report.
In connection with my audit of the financial statements in accordance with ISAs (UK&I), my
responsibility is to read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual accounts
to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with,
the knowledge acquired by me in the course of performing the audit. If I become aware of
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my
report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Report on other requirements
Opinions on other prescribed matters
I am required by the Accounts Commission to express an opinion on the following matters.
In my opinion, the auditable part of the Remuneration Report has been properly prepared in
accordance with The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014.
In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit


the information given in the Management Commentary for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and
that report has been prepared in accordance with statutory guidance issued under the
Local Government in Scotland Act 2003; and



the information given in the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements
and that report has been prepared in accordance with the Delivering Good
Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016).

Matters on which I am required to report by exception
I am required by the Accounts Commission to report to you if, in my opinion:


adequate accounting records have not been kept; or



the financial statements and the auditable part of the Remuneration Report are not in
agreement with the accounting records; or



I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit; or



there has been a failure to achieve a prescribed financial objective.

I have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Anne MacDonald CA
Senior Audit Manager
Audit Scotland
The Annexe
Woodhill House
Westburn Road
Aberdeen
AB16 5GB

21 September 2017
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017
This Statement shows the movement in the year on reserves held by the SDPA, analysed
into 'usable’ reserves and ‘unusable’ reserves. Usable reserves are those that can be
applied to fund expenditure subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and
any statutory limitations on their use. Unusable reserves include reserves that hold
unrealised gains and losses (for example the revaluation reserve), where amounts would
only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold
timing differences shown in the line “Adjustments between accounting basis and funding
basis under regulations”. The SDPA does not have any unusable reserves.
The 'Surplus or (Deficit) on the provision of services' line shows the true economic cost of
providing the SDPA's services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement.
General
Fund

Unusable
Reserves

Total
Reserves

£000

Total
Usable
Reserves
£000

£000

£000

104

104

-

104

Total Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure

-

-

-

-

Increase / (Decrease) in
Year

-

-

-

-

104

104

-

104

33

33

-

33

33

33

-

33

33

33

-

33

137

137

-

137

Balance at 31 March 2015

Balance at 31 March 2016
Surplus or (Deficit) on
provision of services
Total Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure
Increase / (Decrease) in
Year
Balance at 31 March 2017
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2017
This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance
with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from
grants or requisitions. SDPA receives contributions to cover expenditure in accordance with
agreements. This may be different from the accounting cost and the effect on the General
Fund is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
2015/16
£000
£000 £000
Expenditure Income
Net

Note

71

-

71 Staff Costs

27

-

27 Supplies and Services

3
101

-

-

3 Other Costs
101 Cost Of Services

Requisitions and Non(101) (101) Specific Grant Income
(Surplus) or Deficit
on Provision of
- Services
Other
Comprehensive
Income and
- Expenditure
Total Comprehensive
Income and
- Expenditure
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11

2016/17
£000
£000 £000
Expenditure Income
Net

100

-

100

55

-

55

3
158

-

3
158

-

(191) (191)

(33)

-

(33)

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH 2017
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of assets and liabilities
recognised by the SDPA. The net assets of the SDPA (assets less liabilities) are matched by
the reserves held by the SDPA.
Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of reserves is usable reserves,
i.e. those reserves that the SDPA may use to provide services. The second category of
reserves is unusable reserves, i.e. those that are not able to use to provide services. The
SDPA does not have any unusable reserves.
Restated
31 March 2016
£000

31 March 2017
£000
Note

158
158

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Current Assets

7

145
145

(54)
(54)

Short Term Creditors
Current Liabilities

8

(8)
(8)

104

Net Assets

137

104
-

Usable Reserves
Unusable Reserves

137
-

104

Total Reserves

137

The unaudited annual accounts were issued on 20 June 2017 and the audited annual
accounts were authorised for issue on 20 September 2017.

Alan Wood, MA (Hons), CPFA
Treasurer
20 September 2017
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The Cash Flow statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the SDPA
during the reporting period. The Statement shows how the SDPA generates and uses cash
and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing
activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of
the extent to which the operations of the SDPA are funded by way of taxation and grant
income or from the recipients of services provided by the SDPA. Investing activities
represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are
intended to contribute to the SDPA’s future service delivery. Cash flows arising from
financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital
(i.e. borrowing) to the SDPA.
Restated
2015/16
£000
-

2016/17
£000

27

Net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of
services
Adjust net surplus or (deficit) on the
provision of services for non cash
movements

(40)

27

Net cash flows from Operating Activities

(13)

27

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

(13)

131

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the reporting period

158

158

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
reporting period

145

33

No interest was received in either the current or prior year.
There were no investing or financing activities in either the current or prior year.
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Note

12

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
Note 1 Accounting Policies
General Principles
The Annual Accounts summarises the SDPA’s transactions for the 2016/17 financial year
and its position at the year end of 31 March 2017. The SDPA is required to prepare Annual
Accounts by the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, of which section 12
of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003 require to be prepared in accordance with
proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 and the Service Reporting Code
of Practice 2016/17 (SERCOP), supported by International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and statutory guidance issued under section 12 of the 2003 Act.
The accounting convention adopted in the Annual Accounts is historical cost.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements.
Accruals and Income and Expenditure
Income and Expenditure activities are accounted for in the year in which they take place, not
simply when cash payments are made or received.
Where income and expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the balance sheet. Where
the debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to
revenue for the income that might not be collected.
Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset at one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument at another entity.
SDPA’s Financial Assets are held as cash and cash equivalents.
Financial Liabilities
The SDPA’s liabilities are shown as Creditors in the Balance Sheet and are for less than 12
months, they are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortised
cost, which equates to the actual cash value at 31 March 2017.
Requisitions and Contributions
Requisitions and contributions relating to revenue expenditure are accounted for on an
accruals basis and recognised immediately in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure
Statement as income except where the grant or contribution has a condition(s) (as opposed
to restriction) that the SDPA has not satisfied, in which case it is recognised as a Creditor.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The SDPA uses Aberdeenshire Council’s bank account for financial transactions and the
balance is invested in the Council’s Loans Fund. This balance is repayable on demand and
therefore treated as a cash equivalent and is included in the Balance Sheet at amortised
cost, which equates to the actual cash value at 31 March 2017.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued)
Employee Benefits
Benefits Payable During Employment
The SDPA does not directly employ staff but only reimburses the employing authority,
Aberdeenshire Council, for staff costs paid including any pension related costs as they are
incurred.
Post-Employment Benefits
Employees of the Council working for the SDPA are entitled to be members of the
Superannuation Scheme which is administered by Aberdeen City Council. This provides
staff with defined benefits upon their retirement, earned as employees work for the SDPA.
However, the arrangements for the Superannuation scheme mean that liabilities for these
benefits cannot be identified specifically to the SDPA. The scheme is therefore accounted for
as if it were a defined contribution scheme and no liability for future payments of benefits is
recognised in the Balance Sheet. The Cultural, Environmental, Regulatory and Planning
Services line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is charged with the
employer’s contribution payable to SDPA’s employees in the year.
Overheads and Support Services
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those that benefit from the
supply or service in accordance with the costing principles of the CIPFA Service Reporting
Code of Practice (SeRCOP). The total absorption costing principle is used with all overhead
costs identified within the SDPA accounts.
Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable
that occur between the end of the reporting period (the Balance Sheet date) and the date
when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
There are two types of events:
a) those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the Balance Sheet date
(adjusting events after the reporting period); and
b) those that provide evidence of conditions that arose after the Balance Sheet date
(non-adjusting events after the reporting period).
The accounts are adjusted to reflect adjusting events after the reporting period and are not
adjusted to reflect non-adjusting events after the reporting period. Where a non-adjusting
event would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the
events and the estimated financial effect.
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Annual
Accounts.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued)
Reserves
The nature of SDPA operations precludes it from creating reserves other than a General
Fund. This Fund or general reserve captures all assets and liabilities that are not assigned to
a special purpose fund.
Value Added Tax
VAT is included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement only to the extent
that it is irrecoverable.
Note 2 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The adoption of the following accounting standards by the Code in 2017/18 will result in
changes in accounting policy:


IAS 26 Retirement Benefit Plans

It is not anticipated that these changes will have a material effect for SDPA.
Note 3 New Accounting Standards effective in 2016/17
The following new standards, amendments and interpretations became effective in 2016/17
for the first time.









Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions)
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle
Amendment to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations)
Amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets
(Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation)
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle
Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Disclosure Initiative)
The changes to the format of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement and the introduction of the new
Expenditure and Funding Analysis
The changes to the format of the Fund Account and the Net Assets Statement.

There is no material impact on the financial statements as a result of the above.

23

Page 36

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 4 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Treasurer has had to make certain
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events.
The critical judgements made in the Annual Accounts are:


There is a degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for local government and
hence to funding for the SDPA. However, the Treasurer has determined that the level of
uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an indication that the activities of the SDPA
might be affected by the need to reduce levels of service provision. On this basis the
Annual Accounts continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.

Note 5 Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty
The Annual Accounts do not contain any estimated figures that are based on assumptions
made by the SDPA about the future or that are otherwise uncertain.
Note 6 Events after the Balance Sheet Date
The Annual Accounts were authorised for issue by the Treasurer to the SDPA on 20 June
2017. Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements or
notes. Where events taking place before this date provided information about conditions
existing at 31 March 2017, the figures in the financial statements and notes have been
adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this information.
Note 7 Cash and Cash Equivalents
The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents comprises:

Temporary Investment in the Aberdeenshire
Council Loans Fund

Restated
2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

158

137

158

137

Restated
2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

52
2

0
8

54

8

Note 8 Short Term Creditors

Other Local Authorities
Other Entities and Individuals
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 9 Reserves
Movements in the SDPA's usable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves
Statement. The SDPA does not have any unusable reserves.
Note 10 External Audit Costs
The SDPA has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Annual Accounts.

Fees payable in respect of external audit
Services

2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

4

3

Note 11 Requisition Income
The SDPA credited the following requisitions to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.
Restated
2015/16
2016/17
£000
£000
Credited to Requisitions and Non Specific Grant Income:
Requisition from Aberdeen City Council
Requisition from Aberdeenshire Council

Charged to/(Returned to) constituent authorities
Aberdeen City Council
Aberdeenshire Council

Net Requisitions

69
62

95
95

131

190

(18)
(12)

-

(30)

-

101

190

Note 12 Cash Flow – operating activities
Adjustment to surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements

Net Surplus/(Deficit) on the Provision of Services
Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for noncash movements
(Decrease) / Increase in Creditors
Decrease in Debtors
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
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Restated
2015/16
£000

2016/17
£000

-

33

27
27

(40)
(13)

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 13 Related Parties
The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties, which are
bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Authority, or to be
controlled or influenced by the Authority. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers of
the Statements to assess the extent to which the Authority may have been constrained in its
ability to operate independently, or may have secured the capacity to limit another party’s
ability to bargain freely with the SDPA.
Members
Members have direct control over the SDPA’s financial and operational policies and decision
making. No allowances or fees have been paid to Members in 2016/17 and there were no
contracts awarded in which a Member had an interest.
Aberdeen City Council & Aberdeenshire Council
Aberdeen City Council & Aberdeenshire Council have a significant element of control over
the general operations of the SDPA. They provide a significant element of funding through
two specific grants and the elected Members that they appoint to the managing Board of the
SDPA can exert significant influence on its operations and decision making processes. The
amounts relating to each Council are detailed below.

Aberdeenshire Council
Aberdeen City Council

Amounts received from
2015/16
2016/17
£000
£000
62
95
69
95

Amounts paid to
2015/16 2016/17
£000
£000
70
101
-

Amounts due
to/(from) as
at 31 March
2016
2017
£000
£000
12
18
-

Officers
The management of the SDPA is disclosed in the remuneration report on pages 23-25 of
this document. These officers have the responsibility for planning, directing or otherwise
controlling the activities of the SDPA. Their scope of control is determined by reference to
the scheme of delegation and financial regulations adopted by the SDPA. The SDPA is
satisfied that appropriate controls are in place to manage and monitor the activities of the
key management personnel.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 14 Financial Instruments
The SDPA’s financial instruments comprise solely of creditors. All of these are for less than
12 months and are measured at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised cost which
equates to the actual cash value at 31 March 2017.
There are no gains or losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure
Statement in relation to financial instruments.
Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments:
The SDPA has no material exposure to any of the following financial risks:




Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due.
Liquidity risk – the possibility that the SDPA might not have funds available to meet its
commitments to make payments.
Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the SDPA as a result of
changes in such measures as interest rates and stock market movements.

The SDPA has reviewed all financial risks and does not believe that it is required to make
any provision within the financial statements for any financial risk exposure.
Note 15 Pension Scheme Accounted for as a Defined Contribution Scheme
The SDPA’s staff are on secondment from Aberdeenshire Council and as such are entitled
to be members of the Superannuation Scheme which is administered by Aberdeen City
Council. This provides staff with defined benefits upon their retirement, and the SDPA
contributes towards the costs by making contributions based on a percentage of members’
pensionable salaries.
It is neither appropriate nor possible for the SDPA to identify a share of the underlying
liabilities in the scheme attributable to its staff. For the purposes of the annual accounts it is
therefore accounted for as a defined contribution scheme.
In 2016/17, the SDPA reimbursed Aberdeenshire Council with £14,525 (£10,393 in 2015/16)
in respect of superannuation contributions representing 19.3% of pensionable pay (2015/16:
19.3%). The employing authority is responsible for all pension payments related to “added
years” it has awarded, together with related increases. There are no awards in respect of
staff seconded to SDPA.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
EXPENDITURE
Administration Costs:
Includes telephone, printing, stationery, advertising, postage, and training expenses.
Supplies and Services
Includes legal costs, audit fees and consultants’ fees
INCOME
Requisitions:
Funding received from the constituent authorities.
OTHER
SeRCOP
Service Reporting Code of Practice
CIPFA
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
LASAAC
Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee
IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standard
The Code
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
FAIR VALUE
Fair Value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled,
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. For land and
buildings, fair value is the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use.
ECONOMIC COST
The total cost of performing an activity or following a decision or course of action.
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Agenda Item 3

ABERDEEN CITY & SHIRE
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY
Date: 20 September 2017
Title: Annual Audit Report 2016/17
1

Purpose of Report

1.1

To provide the Board with the external auditor’s annual report in respect of the
2016/17 audit of Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Planning Authority’s
annual accounts.

2

Background

2.1

Local Authorities and similar bodies are required to ensure that they demonstrate
proper stewardship of their financial affairs. Auditors are appointed for a five year
period and the current rotation of auditors is effective from financial year 2016/17.
The current external auditor is Anne MacDonald from Audit Scotland.
The 2017 Housing Land Audit

2.2

The report sets out the auditor’s findings having considered the authority’s main
financial systems, wider governance arrangements and the annual accounts.
The auditor’s main judgements were as follows:
 Unqualified opinions were provided on the annual accounts including the
remuneration report, management commentary and annual governance
statement.
 Satisfactory internal financial controls were found to be in operation but overall
governance could be enhanced through the adoption of a revised local code of
governance. An action plan has been provided covering this and suggesting a
refresh of the authority’s financial regulations.

3

Recommendations

3.1

It is recommended that the SDPA:
 Consider the auditor’s report including the action plan.

Alan Wood
Treasurer
11 September 2017
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APPENDIX 1

Aberdeen City and Shire
Strategic Development
Planning Authority
2016/17 Annual Audit Report

Prepared for Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Planning Authority
and the Accounts Commission
20 September 2017
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Key messages

Who we are
The Auditor General, the Accounts Commission and Audit Scotland work together
to deliver public audit in Scotland:
 The Auditor General is an independent crown appointment, made on the
recommendation of the Scottish Parliament, to audit the Scottish
Government, NHS and other bodies and report to Parliament on their
financial health and performance.
 The Accounts Commission is an independent public body appointed by
Scottish ministers to hold local government to account. The Controller of
Audit is an independent post established by statute, with powers to report
directly to the Commission on the audit of local government.
 Audit Scotland is governed by a board, consisting of the Auditor General, the
chair of the Accounts Commission, a non-executive board chair, and two
non-executive members appointed by the Scottish Commission for Public
Audit, a commission of the Scottish Parliament.

About us
Our vision is to be a world-class audit organisation that improves the use of public
money.
Through our work for the Auditor General and the Accounts Commission, we
provide independent assurance to the people of Scotland that public money is
spent properly and provides value. We aim to achieve this by:
 carrying out relevant and timely audits of the way the public sector manages
and spends money
 reporting our findings and conclusions in public
 identifying risks, making clear and relevant recommendations.
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Key messages
2016/17 annual accounts
1 Our audit opinions were all unqualified. These covered the financial
statements, management commentary, remuneration report and the
annual governance statement.

Financial sustainability
2 The authority incurred an underspend against budget in respect of
2016/17 due to recruitment difficulties.

3 Each year the authority prepares and submits a 5 year provisional budget
to partner bodies. This provides the authority with some financial
stability.

Governance
4 Satisfactory internal financial controls are in operation but overall

governance could be enhanced through the adoption of a revised local
code of corporate governance.
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Introduction
1. This report is a summary of our findings arising from the 2016/17 audit of
Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Planning Authority (SDPA). The
report is divided into sections which reflect our public sector audit model.
2. The scope of our audit was set out in our Annual Audit Plan presented to the
board in June 2017. In accordance with Audit Scotland’s Code of Audit Practice,
we explained at that time that the small body clause applies to the SDPA. The
main elements of the 2016/17 audit therefore included:
 assurances to support our opinion on the annual accounts
 consideration of the appropriateness of the disclosures in the governance
statement
 a review of financial sustainability.
3. The SDPA is responsible for preparing annual accounts that show a true and fair
view and for establishing effective arrangements for governance to enable
successful delivery of objectives.
4. Our responsibilities as independent auditor are established by the Local
Government (Scotland) Act 1973, the Code of Audit Practice (2016), and
supplementary guidance, and are guided by the auditing profession’s ethical
guidance. The Code and supplementary guidance also provides details of
management’s responsibilities with regard to the accounts.
5. These responsibilities include giving independent opinions on the financial
statements, the remuneration report, the management commentary and the annual
governance statement.
6. The weaknesses or risks identified in this report are only those that have come
to our attention during our normal audit work, and may not be all that exist. Also,
our annual audit report contains an action plan at Appendix 1. It sets out specific
recommendations, responsible officers and dates for implementation.
7. Communication in this report of matters arising from the audit of the annual
accounts or of risks or of weaknesses does not absolve management from its
responsibility to address the issues raised and to maintain an adequate system of
control.
8. As part of the requirement to provide fair and full disclosure of matters relating to
our independence, we can confirm that we have not undertaken non-audit related
services. The 2016/17 audit fee was set out in our Annual Audit Plan and as we did
not carry out any work additional to our planned audit activity, the fee remains
unchanged.
9. This report is addressed to both the SDPA and the Accounts Commission and
will be published on Audit Scotland's website www.audit-scotland.gov.uk.
10. We would like to thank all management and staff who have been involved in
our work for their co-operation and assistance during the audit.
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Part 1
Audit of 2016/17 annual accounts

Main judgement
We provided unqualified audit opinions on the accounts.

Unqualified audit opinions
11. The annual accounts for the year ended 31 March 2017 were approved by the
authority on 20 September 2017. We reported, within our independent auditor’s
report:
 an unqualified opinion on the financial statements
 unqualified opinions on the remuneration report, management commentary
and the annual governance statement.
12. Additionally, we have nothing to report in respect of those matters which we are
required by the Accounts Commission to report by exception.

Submission of annual accounts for audit
13. We received the unaudited financial statements on 20 June 2017 in line with
our agreed audit timetable.
14. The Treasurer is also the Head of Finance for Aberdeenshire Council and
consequently, his team provides finance and accounting support to the authority.

Risks of material misstatement
15. Appendix 2 provides a description of those assessed risks of material
misstatement that were identified during the planning process, how we addressed
them and conclusions.

Materiality
16. Materiality defines the maximum error that we are prepared to accept and still
conclude that our audit objective has been achieved. The assessment of what is
material is a matter of professional judgement. It involves considering both the
amount and nature of the misstatement.
17. Our initial assessment of materiality for the annual accounts was carried out
during the planning phase of the audit and was reviewed on receipt of the
unaudited accounts. Our materiality values are summarised in Exhibit 2.
Specifically with regard to the annual accounts, we assess the materiality of
uncorrected misstatements, both individually and collectively.
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Exhibit 2
Materiality values
Materiality level

Amount

Overall materiality - This is the calculated figure we use in assessing the overall impact
of audit adjustments on the financial statements. It was set at 1% of gross expenditure
for the year ended 31 March 2017.

£1,560

Performance materiality - This acts as a trigger point. If the aggregate of errors
identified during the financial statements audit exceeds performance materiality this
would indicate that further audit procedures should be considered. Using our
professional judgement we have calculated performance materiality at 70% of overall
materiality.

£1,110

Reporting threshold - We are required to report to those charged with governance on
all unadjusted misstatements in excess of the ‘reporting threshold' amount. This has
been calculated at 5% of overall materiality.

Evaluation of misstatements
18. An amendment was made to the accounts to reflect a late creditor of £8k. This
reduced the surplus from £41k to £33k. There were no unadjusted misstatements
which require to be reported.

Significant findings
19. International Standard on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 260 requires us to
communicate to you significant findings from the audit. These are summarised in
Exhibit 3.

Management commentary, annual governance statement and
remuneration report
20. The Code of Audit Practice 2016 requires bodies to prepare and publish, along
with their financial statements, an annual governance statement, management
commentary and a remuneration report that are consistent with the disclosures
made in the financial statements. From 2016/17, in giving an unqualified audit
opinion, we are also confirming that these statements have been prepared in
accordance with relevant regulations and/or guidance.
21. During the audit process, an action plan was added to the annual governance
statement to reflect work to be undertaken as a result of revised guidance
contained in the CIPFA/SOLACE ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local
Government: Framework’.
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Exhibit 3
Significant findings from the audit of the financial statements
Issue

Resolution

1. Service analysis

Resolution

The CIES in the draft accounts was presented in line
with the Service expenditure reporting code of
practice as in previous years.

The revised accounts have been amended to
reflect the 2016/17 Code requirements.

With effect from 2016/17, the Code requires bodies
to present the service analysis on the basis of the
organisational structure under which they operate
and report. Bodies are no longer required to follow
the service expenditure analysis in the Service
expenditure reporting code of practice.

Objections
22. The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014 (2014 Regulations)
require a local authority body to publish a public notice on its website that includes
details of the period the unaudited accounts are available for public inspection and
the process for making an objection to the accounts. The notice must remain on
the website throughout the statutory 3 week inspection period.
23. The SDPA accounts were not made available for inspection online as required.
Following audit notification, this was rectified during the inspection period and the
period of inspection was extended to ensure the unaudited accounts were publicly
available for a 3 week period.

Page 53

10 |

Part 2
Financial sustainability

Main judgement
The authority experiences some financial stability through the
preparation and submission of a five year financial plan each year.

Financial planning
24. The authority achieved an underspend against budget in 2016/17 due to
recruitment difficulties. The authority set its 2016/17 budget in March 2016
alongside provisional figures for 2017-21. The planned five year spend is largely in
line with previous years. The only exception being increased legal fees incurred in
2016/17 and anticipated in 2017/18 in connection with the authority’s appeal
through the Supreme Court. The SDPA adopted supplementary planning guidance
which has been challenged by a local landowner.
25. The authority had a general fund balance of £137k at 31 March 2017. The
recent increase in the fund, due to the underspend in the year, has been approved
on the basis it will provide a cushion for additional legal costs expected in 2017/18.
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Part 3
Governance

Main judgement
Satisfactory internal financial controls in operation but overall
governance could be enhanced through the adoption of a revised local
code of corporate governance.

Governance arrangements
26. The authority was designated under the Planning etc (Scotland) Act 2006 and
required Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire Councils to jointly prepare and keep
under review a strategic development plan for the strategic development plan area.
27. The board has 12 members, six each from Aberdeenshire and Aberdeen City
Councils and it met on five occasions during 2016/17. We review minutes of board
meetings and periodically observe meetings for a greater insight into proceedings.

Financial regulations
28. The Financial Regulations have been in place since 2009 and while they
remain relevant, several references are now out of date due to changes in relevant
legislation and guidance. For example, they should reflect the requirements of the
2014 Regulations in respect of published accounts and review of internal control.
29. The existing Financial Regulations require the audited accounts to be
submitted to the SDPA board within two months of being certified. This practice
was replaced in the 2014 Regulations by the requirement for the SDPA board to
consider the audited accounts and to approve them for signature prior to 30
September each year. Thereafter, audited accounts and the auditor’s annual
report require to be published on the authority’s website.
30. The 2014 Regulations also require the authority to review its system of internal
control on an annual basis prior to its approval of the annual governance
statement. The Financial Regulations require the authority to have an effective
system of internal control in place and they also provide for ‘periodic’ reviews by
internal audit. There is scope for the financial regulations to be reviewed to ensure
the requirements of the 2014 Regulations have been addressed.
Recommendation 1
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Local Code of corporate governance
31. Through a service level agreement the authority uses the financial systems of
Aberdeenshire Council to processes its transactions. These systems are subject
to a continuous internal audit by the council’s chief internal auditor. In our Annual
Audit Plan, we acknowledged that the authority is a small body and as such it is
appropriate that it uses and takes assurance from council systems. Through the
audit process, revised wording was agreed with the Treasurer for inclusion in the
annual governance statement to confirm the authority’s reliance on council
systems and to clarify the level of assurance provided by the council’s chief internal
auditor in respect of those systems.
32. With effect from 2016/17, the CIPFA/SOLACE ‘Delivering Good Governance:
Framework (2016)’ applies to all local government bodies. It has been
acknowledged that an annual review against the framework will meet the
requirements of an effectiveness review under the 2014 Regulations.
33. The framework sets outs a range of core and sub principles for good
governance including behaviour, openness and transparency, leadership capacity,
decision making and risk and internal control. While the authority should continue
to take assurance from the council in respect of financial systems and internal
controls, the framework is wider and extends to the vision, leadership and
operation of the authority’s board. It is therefore appropriate that the authority
adopts a revised local code of corporate governance in response to the framework
and puts plans in place to conduct an annual review.
Recommendation 2

Internal audit
34. The authority’s internal auditor is Aberdeenshire Council’s Chief Internal
Auditor. In respect of 2016/17, he concluded that reasonable assurance could be
taken from the financial controls the authority has in place based on his
programme of work on council systems.
35. As external auditors for the council, we concluded that internal audit operated
in accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and has sound
documentation, standards and reporting procedures in place.

Financial management
36. Financial management is about financial capacity, sound budgetary processes
and whether the control environment and internal controls are operating effectively.
It is the authority’s responsibility to ensure that its financial affairs are conducted in
a proper manner.
37. As auditors, we need to consider whether audited bodies have established
adequate financial management arrangements. We do this by considering a
number of factors, including whether:
 the Treasurer has sufficient status to be able to deliver good financial
management
 financial regulations and standing orders are comprehensive, current and
promoted within the authority
 reports monitoring performance against budgets are accurate and provided
regularly to budget holders.
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38. Overall financial management within the authority is considered to be
satisfactory, with appropriate monitoring reports being regularly submitted to the
board for scrutiny.

Prevention and detection of fraud and irregularity
39. Through its Financial Regulations, the authority had adopted the fraud and
whistleblowing policies of Aberdeenshire Council. While this is an appropriate
arrangement, as the council’s external auditors, we recommended that the fraud
strategy which currently dates from 2012 be refreshed to reflect current good
practice and once updated, it should be re-issue and widely promoted.
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Appendix 1
Action plan 2016/17

Page/ Issue/risk
para
no.
11/30

The Financial Regulations
have not been updated to
reflect the requirements of the
2014 Regulations e.g.
consideration and approval of
audited accounts,
responsibility for annual
review of internal controls

Recommendation

Review and update the
Financial Regulations to reflect
the requirements of the 2014
Regulations.

Risk: the authority does not
comply with statutory
requirements.
12/33

Assurances on the
effectiveness of authority’s
governance arrangements
focus on the council’s financial
systems and internal controls.
Wider governance
arrangements around the
operation of the authority
board have not been
reviewed.

The authority should adopt a
local code of corporate
governance including plans for
annual review.

Risk: the authority does not
meet the expectations of the
Delivering Good
Governance Framework.
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Appendix 2
Significant audit risks identified during planning
The table below sets out the audit risks we identified during our planning of the audit and how
we addressed each risk in arriving at our conclusion. The risks are categorised between those
where there is a risk of material misstatement in the annual accounts and those relating to our
wider responsibility under the Code of Audit Practice 2016.

Audit risk

Assurance procedure

Results and conclusions

Risks of material misstatement in the financial statements
1

Risk of management override
of controls

Owing to the nature of this
risk, assurances from
management are not
applicable in this instance.

ISA 240 requires that audit work
is planned to consider the risk of
fraud, which is presumed to be a
significant risk in any audit. This
includes consideration of the risk
of management override of
controls in order to change the
position disclosed in the financial
statements.
2

The Finance team are alert
to the Accounting Code
changes and the impact on
the financial statements.

Changes in accounting
requirements
The 2016/17 Code of Practice on
Local Authority Accounting (the
Accounting Code) introduced a
number of changes in the
presentation of the financial
statements including a new
expenditure and funding analysis
and changes in the governance
statement. There is a risk the
financial statements will not
comply with the Code and/or
contain a material misstatement.

3

New Payroll System
Financial services including
payroll administration are
provided to the SDPA by
Aberdeenshire Council. The
council introduced a new payroll
system with effect from 1 April
2016. As with many new
systems, there were issues
during implementation. There is
a risk that payroll is not
functioning correctly and staff
costs are misstated.





Assurances from
Aberdeenshire over
services provided
Budget monitoring
arrangements.
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Based on audit work
undertaken, no issues were
identified.

.



Amendments were made to the
annual accounts to meet the
requirements of the revised
Code.



Based on audit work
undertaken, no issues were
identified.
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Aberdeenshire Aberdeen City and Shire
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2016/17 Annual Audit Report
If you require this publication in an alternative
format and/or language, please contact us to
discuss your needs: 0131 625 1500
or info@audit-scotland.gov.uk
For the latest news, reports
and updates, follow us on:

Audit Scotland, The Annexe, Woodhill House, Westburn Road, Aberdeen AB16 5GB
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Agenda Item 4

ABERDEEN CITY & SHIRE
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY
Date: 20 September 2017
Title : SDPA Budget Monitoring position as at 31 August 2017
1

Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is for the Strategic Development Planning Authority
(SDPA) to note the budget monitoring position for 2017/18 as at 31 August
2017.
2

Background

2.1 The budget for the SDPA was considered at the meeting on 22 March 2017.
3

Proposal

3.1 The budget monitoring report showing expenditure for 2017/18 is attached as
Appendix 1 to this report for Members’ consideration.
3.2 The Authority will note that as forecast there has been little expenditure other
than staff costs this year. Legal Fees relating to a legal challenge lodged at the
Court of Session is the only other notable item of expenditure during the year.
3.3 Both Partner Councils contribute equal amounts to the Authority. The forecast
additional contributions, as a result of the legal challenge, will be formally
requested from the partners once the final invoices have been received from
the solicitors acting on our behalf.
4

Recommendations

4.1 It is recommended that the Authority:
a) Notes the budget monitoring position as at 31 August 2017.

Alan Wood, Treasurer
11 September 2017
Report prepared by Brian G Allan, Accountant
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APPENDIX 1
REVISED

ACTUAL

REVISED

ACTUAL

BUDGET

TO

FORECAST

2016/17

2017/18

AUG-17

£'000

£'000

£'000

%

NOTES

2017/18
£'000

Staff Costs
1

Salaries & Wages

90

38

42.1%

90

2

Superannuation

3

National Insurance

16

7

45.7%

20

7

4

60.6%

4

Other Staff Costs

10

0

0

0.0%

0

113

49

43.7%

120

0

0

0.0%

0

0

0

0.0%

0

8

0

0.0%

8

1

0

0.0%

1

2

0

0.0%

2

4

0

0.0%

4

1

1

100.0%

1

16

1

6.3%

16

2

1

34.8%

2

2

1

34.8%

2

1

0

0.0%

1

1

0

0.0%

1

32

84

263.7%

135

2

0

1.7%

2

5

0

0.0%

5

0

0

0.0%

0

55

41

84

205.9%

144

159

172

136

78.8%

282

(84)

0

0.0%

(139)

1

(84)

0

0.0%

(139)

1

20 Other Income

(95)
(95)
0

(4)

0

0.0%

(4)

Total Income

(190)

(172)

0

0.0%

(282)

(32)

0

136

0.0%

0

75
15
9
0
98

Premises Costs
5

Other Property Costs

0
0

Administration Costs
6

Printing, Stationery & Postages

7

Telephone Costs

8

Course Expenses

9

Advertising & Promotions

0
0
0
1
3

10 Other Administration Costs

4
Transport Costs
11 Travel & Subsistence

1
1

Supplies & Services
12 Purchase of Equipment

0
0
53
2
0
0

13 Purchase of Materials
14 Legal Expenses
15 Other Supplies & Services
16 Consultant Fees
17 Work Done by Outside Contractor

Gross Expenditure

1

Income
18 Aberdeen City Council
19 Aberdeenshire Council

Net Expenditure

Note 1

Unbudgetted Legal Expenses relating to the Court of Session case, will be
paid for by a request for additional income from the Partner Authorities.

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64

Agenda Item 5

SDPA Bulletin – September 2017
1

Strategic Transport Fund Legal Challenge Update

1.1 As has been previously reported, the Supreme Court granted the SDPA leave to
appeal the decision of the Court of Session to quash the Strategic Transport
Fund Supplementary Guidance on 21 December 2016.
1.2 The hearing before the Supreme Court took place on 13 June 2017 in
Edinburgh and a final decision by the court is still awaited.

2

Scottish Government Consultation – ‘Places, People and
Planning – Position Statement’

2.1 The SDPA responded to the Scottish Government’s ‘Places, People and
Planning’ consultation on reforms to the Scottish planning system at its meeting
of March 2017.
2.2 The day prior to the SDPA’s last meeting in June the Scottish Government
published a brief ‘Position Statement’ (Appendix 1) on the review which set out
the changes Scottish Ministers are considering taking forward in light of their
initial assessment of the previous consultation responses
(https://consult.scotland.gov.uk/planning-architecture/places-people-and-planning-positionstatement/). Alongside this document was published an ‘Analysis of Responses’

to the previous consultation which can be found at the link below (https://beta.gov.scot/publications/planning-review-analysis-of-consultation-responses-june2017/Planning%20Review%20analysis%20of%20consultation%20responses.pdf?inline=true).

2.3 At the June meeting it was agreed that the SDPA should respond to the new
consultation on the ‘Position Statement’ before the deadline of 11 August 2017.
2.4 The SDPA’s response focused on the same issues it has previously responded
to, namely strategic planning (at national and city region scales) and
infrastructure delivery.
2.5 While the response recognises that the period after the end of the previous
consultation (4 April 2017) had been short, it highlights that the ‘Position
Statement’ contains very little information as to what would be included in a
Planning Bill later this year. This makes it difficult to envisage how the new
system would work. The response highlights that a majority of planning
authorities and a significant majority of housebuilders did not agree in the
previous consultation that the proposed package of reforms will either (a)
improve development planning; or (c) help deliver more homes and the
infrastructure we need. In light of this, it is surprising that the Scottish
Government appear to be continuing to pursue their proposals for change in
these areas.
2.6 The point is made again that there has still been no evidence presented to
justify the strategic planning proposals, or any clarity as to what SDPs / SDPAs
are likely to be replaced with. There is a welcome recognition that the new
arrangement would require ‘duties’ rather than just ‘powers’, but any non-
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statutory regional spatial strategies would need to be afforded some weight in
the decision-making process or the value of preparing them would be
undermined. The response also highlights that while a duty to contribute to the
preparation and implementation of a delivery programme for the National
Planning Framework (NPF) is one thing, it fails to address the more significant
issue of the preparation of the NPF itself. Confidence in the statutory process for
the preparation of the NPF will be vital if regional planning frameworks are to be
presented in it.
2.7 The response also highlights potentially significant issues for the north east with
the timetable presented by the Scottish Government for the publication of the
revised NPF and Scottish Planning Policy (SPP). Publication in 2020 would
cause significant issues for both the strategic development plan as well as both
local development plans.
2.8 In relation to housing, there is now very little clarity about what the proposals
are, although the stated objective is now to ‘identify a solution which minimises
the level of debate on how much land for housing is required’. As a
consequence we do not know what role NPF/SPP will have in setting housing
targets and housing land requirements in a future without SDPs. This introduces
a very significant level of uncertainty and risk to the review process.
2.9 The full SDPA response it attached at Appendix 2. It is understood around 120
responses were made to the ‘Position Statement’, although these have yet to be
published online. These include responses from the SDPA and both councils as
well as Nestrans and the Aberdeen and Grampian Chamber of Commerce.
2.10 The Scottish Government is now taking all responses received to both
consultations and working towards a Planning Bill by the end of the year. The
expectation is that this would lead to a Planning Act receiving Royal Assent in
summer 2018 and brought into force and implemented thereafter. Experience
with the previous 2006 Act suggests that implementation is unlikely to be a
quick process.

3

Planning applications of strategic importance

3.1 Since the last meeting of the SDPA, two new responses to planning applications
have been submitted. In addition to this, one application to which the SDPA
responded has now been released for consent following notification to Scottish
Ministers.
Football Stadium and Training Facilities, Westhill
3.2 The SDPA had already submitted a response in relation to this application earlier
this year but in response to additional information submitted a second response
in July (see Appendix 3). Subsequent to this the applicant submitted further
additional information in early August and Aberdeen City Council made another
consultation request in light of this. The new information does not alter the SDPAs
assessment of the application but adds a complexity in now proposing a
footbridge over the A944 dual carriageway to mitigate the impact of fans crossing
the road in substantial numbers. However, the bridge is outwith the application
boundary, extends into Aberdeenshire and has not been assessed in terms of its
visual impact. The additional response from the SDPA is set out in Appendix 4. A
pre-determination hearing is due to take place on 13 September, with a decision
being taken on the application on 11 October 2017. Aberdeenshire Council has
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objected to the proposal so if minded to grant the application would need to be
notified to Scottish Ministers to decide whether it should be called in.
Residential Development, Cairnbulg
3.3 A response was made to an application for residential development at Cairnbulg,
6km west of Fraserburgh. The site for 49 homes is in the Rural Housing Market
Area and is a major development due to the site size (4.7Ha). The response
highlighted that the site is unallocated and in an area with a generous supply of
housing land. It is also highlighted that the homes not mixed, with units generally
being larger in size, without a focus on smaller units as suggested by the SDP.
The submitted response is set out in Appendix 5. A pre-determination hearing for
this application took place on 31 August 2017.
Mixed Use Development, Blackdog
3.4 A response was made by the SDPA to Aberdeenshire Council in August 2016 in
relation to an application by Ashfield Land for a mixed-use development with a
large retail component at Blackdog on the A90 / AWPR junction to the north of
Aberdeen. Aberdeenshire Council agreed to grant consent to the application at
its meeting of April 2017. It was then notified to Scottish Ministers due to an
objection from Aberdeen City Council. Scottish Ministers decided against calling
in the application in mid-August so Aberdeenshire Council are now able to release
the consent.

4

Housing Market Activity

4.1 This section provides an update on activity within the Aberdeen City and Shire
housing market. It combines data from the Scottish Government (Housing
Statistics for Scotland) and Registers of Scotland (Monthly Residential Property
Market Statistics).
4.2 It can be seen (Figure 1) that the trend of Aberdeen City and Shire accounting
for an increasing percentage of the Scottish residential property market ended in
late 2013 (value – 17.0%; number of transactions – 12.8%). During the year to
the end of July 2017 it accounted for 9.6% of the value of the Scottish housing
market and 7.9% of transactions (compared to 9% of Scotland’s population and
households), with quite a sharp reduction since the peak just over two years
ago. The graph shows that both variables have stabilised over recent months at
more ‘normal’ levels after the anomaly of the period since 2007/08.
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Figure 1: Aberdeen City & Shire as a percentage of the Scottish residential property
market
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Source: Monthly Residential Property Data, Registers of Scotland

4.3 It can be seen from Figure 2 that annualised transaction fell significantly
between August 2014 and April 2017 (-30%). Since then there has been a small
but noteworthy recovery in annual transactions (+4%).
Figure 2: Annualised residential property transactions (2004 – 2017)
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4.4 It can be seen from Figure 3 that prices rose generally between 2009 and April
2015 before falling. The average price in the year to end July 2017 stood at
£206,410 – approximately £22,000 lower than the peak (-9.6% over two years)
but still around £37,000 more than the Scottish average. Annualised average
house prices appear to have stabilised since the start of the year.
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Figure 3: Average annualised house prices (2003 – 2017)
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4.5 Rental prices have also fallen over the last two years in the Aberdeen area, with
average rents falling by 31% since the end of 2014, from over £1,100pcm to
around £770pcm, as shown in Figure 4 below. The drop in rental values has
been broadly comparable across the different property sizes (between 30% and
33%). However, the figures for quarter 2 2017 show a small recovery in rental
prices (+2.7%, the first rise for 2½ years) particularly for three and four
bedroomed properties.
Figure 4: Residential rental costs in Scotland’s four largest cities
Aberdeen

Source: Citylets

4.6 A number of key messages can be drawn from the information presented
above:
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a) The residential property market in Aberdeen City and Shire has returned to
levels more in line with the rest of Scotland and appears to have stabilised
over recent months closer to pre-2009 levels. Since April 2017 there has
been a small rise in the annualised number of housing transactions after
falling fairly consistently since August 2009.
b) Average house prices have fallen over the last two years but evidence
suggests they too may now be stabilising. The gap between the average
price in Aberdeen City and Shire and Scotland as a whole now stands at
approximately £37,000.
c) Average monthly rents have risen for the first time in 2½ years and are now
at levels comparable with the Scottish average.
4.7 Transaction, price and rental information all now point to a bottoming out of the
housing market and the early shoots of a potential recovery. However, there are
a lot of properties on the market for both sale and let, with the recovery phase
likely to take some time.

5

World first for Peterhead – Floating Windfarm

5.1 The world's first full-scale floating windfarm has started to take shape off the
coast of Peterhead, with all turbines now in place after being towed across the
North Sea from Norway. The technology will allow wind power to be generated
in waters too deep for current conventional turbines which are attached directly
to the seabed. The Peterhead windfarm, known as Hywind, is around 25km
offshore and made up of 5 turbines
which are 258m tall (178m above sea
level plus 80m beneath). The turbines
have been installed in water depths of
around 100m and will bring power to
20,000 homes when they start
generation later this year.
5.2 The Hywind project has been in
development over a number of years by
Statoil, receiving consent in late 2015.
Consent was also recently granted by
Aberdeenshire Council for 'Batwind', an
energy storage solution to be piloted by
Statoil in association with the Hywind
project. The installation of a 1MWh
battery has the equivalent storage capacity of 2 Million iPhones and has the
potential to mitigate intermittency and optimise output - improving efficiency and
lowering costs for offshore wind.
5.3 There was extensive media coverage of the new windfarm in July, with the BBC
news featuring it as well as a range of national newspapers and websites.
5.4 The Hywind project is one of four consented offshore windfarms around the
Aberdeen City and Shire coastline. Also under construction at the current time is
the Aberdeen Bay European Offshore Wind Deployment Centre (enough to
power 78,000 homes), which is expected to start generation in mid-2018.
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6

Moray Offshore Windfarm

6.1 Earlier this month the Moray Offshore Windfarm (East) received ‘contract for
difference’ funding from the UK Government in its second funding round
(https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-clean-energy-projects-set-to-power-36-millionhomes). Offshore consent (from Marine Scotland) and onshore planning
permission (from Aberdeenshire Council) were both granted in 2014.
Generation at this site off the Moray / Aberdeenshire coast will require
significant upgrades to the onshore electricity transmission infrastructure
between Peterhead and Rothienorman (including a new substation near New
Deer) as well as upgrades to the East Coast transmission grid south of
Rothienorman (passing through Leylodge near Kintore and down to Angus and
beyond).
6.2 Contract for Difference is the way the UK Government supports emerging
renewable energy technologies. The results of the second funding round being
announced on September 2017.
6.3 A Contract for Difference (CFD) is a private law contract between a low carbon
electricity generator and the Low Carbon Contracts Company (LCCC), a
government-owned company. A generator party to a CFD is paid the difference
between the ‘strike price’ – a price for electricity reflecting the cost of investing in
a particular low carbon technology – and the ‘reference price’– a measure of the
average market price for electricity in the GB market. It gives greater certainty
and stability of revenues to electricity generators by reducing their exposure to
volatile wholesale prices, whilst protecting consumers from paying for higher
support costs when electricity prices are high.
6.4 The new funding announcement requires the first phase of the project to be
operational by 2022/23. The capacity receiving funding (950MW) is slightly
lower than the full consented capacity of the windfarm (1116MW). However, this
is still a significant step forward and will significantly overshadow existing
renewable energy generation in Aberdeen City and Shire.
6.5 This announcement leaves the Kincardine Floating Wind Farm (48MW or
35,000 homes) as the only consented offshore windfarm off the Aberdeen City
and Shire coast which is neither under construction nor with subsidy in place.

7

Kintore Station

7.1 The station at Kintore on the Aberdeen-Inverness railway line closed in 1964.
7.2 The delivery of a station at Kintore has been a key part of regional and local
transport and planning strategies (including the strategic development plan) for a
number of years and it is now edging closer to delivery.
7.3 A Public Local Inquiry into the Aberdeenshire Council (Kintore Railway Station)
Compulsory Purchase Order 2017 had been due to be held on 4 September but
was cancelled as all objections have now been withdrawn.
7.4 The Scottish Government’s Planning & Environmental Appeals Division have
advised that the reporter will now prepare a short report to Scottish Ministers to
allow them to consider whether the order should be confirmed, as provided for in
the First Schedule, Paragraph 4 of the Acquisition of Land (Authorisation
Procedure) (Scotland) 1947.
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7.5 The new station is part of the wider Aberdeen-Inverness rail project and is due to
open in time for the start of the local rail services to be introduced in 2019 when
there will be a half-hourly service between Inverurie and Montrose – a significant
enhancement on the existing service.
7.6 This will provide the first new station in Aberdeen and Aberdeenshire since the
successful opening of Laurencekirk Station in May 2009 which now handles over
100,000 passengers per year.

8

Transport Scotland’s Rail Infrastructure Strategy Consultation

8.1 Transport Scotland’s Consultation on Scotland’s Rail Infrastructure Strategy

closed on the 24 February 2017. While Nestrans took the lead on this from a
North East perspective, there were
also a few points made by the Figure 5: Rail Regulation Process & Timeline
SDPA which were reported to its
March meeting.

8.2 Around 100 responses were
received to the consultation and
these have now been published
(https://consult.scotland.gov.uk/transportscotland/rail-infrastructure-strategy-from2019/). The Scottish Government’s

‘High Level Output Specification’
(HLOS) was published in July.
8.3 The HLOS sets out what the
Scottish Ministers require the rail
industry to achieve with regard to
the rail network in Scotland during
the period April 2019 to March
2024. However, the statement did
not contain the likely public sector
funding that would be available to
deliver the objectives set. This now
requires to be published by 13
October 2017.
8.4 In relation to the points made in the
SDPA’s response to the draft
strategy, while the HLOS (https://www.transport.gov.scot/media/39496/high-level-outputspecification-hlos-for-control-period-6-final.pdf) continues to promote a ‘Pipeline’
approach to infrastructure funding decisions, it appears to provide opportunities
for greater local stakeholder engagement and consultation on business cases and
the preparation of a “Rail Enhancement and Capital Investment Strategy”.
However, it will be the interaction between this and the outcomes of the planning
review which will determine the extent to which the SDPA’s comments have been
taken on board.
8.5 Network Rail will now prepare their Strategic Business Plan which will set out
what they propose to deliver in the period and how much it will cost by December
2017. This will be followed by scrutiny by the Office of Rail and Road, consultation
on a draft determination and a final determination by October 2018 (as shown in
Figure 5). More detail on the review process can be found on the Office of Rail

Page 72

and Road website - http://orr.gov.uk/rail/economic-regulation/regulation-of-network-rail/pricecontrols/periodic-review-2018.

9

Harbour Expansion (Aberdeen and Peterhead)

9.1 The SDP supports harbour expansion proposals in both Aberdeen and
Peterhead, with construction now underway on both projects.
9.2 Key milestones have recently been announced which indicate when particular
elements of the Aberdeen Harbour project are due for completion:


Construction commenced in May 2017



Dredging (August 2017 – September 2018)



Works on North Breakwater (May 2017 – October 2019)



Works on South Breakwater (June 2018 – November 2019)



Works on West Quay (July 2018 – June 2019)



Works on East and North Quay (February 2019 – January 2020)



Construction to be completed in May 2020

9.3 A dedicated website has also been established which provides more detail on the
project (http://www.ahep.co.uk/) and will provide updates during the construction
period.
9.4 In relation to the port at Peterhead, the £50m improvement programme of work
started in October 2016 (http://www.peterheadport.co.uk/contractaward.htm) and has a
number of key components set out below:


Strengthening of the existing quay walls around the North Harbour.



Removal of Queenie Bridge and removal of Queenie abutment.



Dredging of the harbour by 3m generally.



Construction of a new revetment at Smith Embankment and reclamation of
additional land.



Realignment of south quay, west quay jetty and west pier jetty to allow for
widening of the harbour entrance and modernisation of the existing quays.



There will also be service improvements including underwater service
diversions and futureproofing the harbour in years to come.



The existing fish markets on Merchants quay will be demolished and replaced
with a 50% larger and more modern new fish markets located in the North
Harbour.

9.5 Work is expected to be complete by April 2018.
9.6 Both of these projects will help to improve the port and associated facilities in both
Aberdeen and Peterhead to make the most of their opportunities and potential for
the energy and fishing sectors in particular.
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10 A96 Aberdeen - Inverness
10.1 In June 2017 a joint venture between Amey / Arup were appointed by Transport
Scotland to complete a Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB) ‘Stage 2’
assessment (assessment of options leading to preferred route) of the route
between the A96 junction with the AWPR and a point east of Huntly.
10.2 During ‘Stage 2’ there will be two
rounds of public consultation on
both a shortlist of options and
subsequently the preferred option
to be taken forward (see Figure 6).

Figure 6: Approach to DMRB Stage 2

10.3 Following completion of DMRB
Stage 2 in 2019 it is anticipated that
the ‘Stage 3’ assessment (detailed
assessment and design of route,
prior to publishing draft orders for
land acquisition) will take a further
18-24 months before the statutory
processes associated with land
acquisition are taken forward and
the procurement of contractors to
undertake the work.
10.4 The central section of the A96 (East
of Huntly - Glens of Foudland - to
Fochabers) has yet to be taken
forward to DMRB Stage 2.
10.5 The Scottish Government has
committed to the dualling of the whole length of the A96 to be complete by 2030
(https://www.transport.gov.scot/projects/a96-dualling-inverness-to-aberdeen).

11 Scottish Government’s Programme for Government 2017/18
11.1 The Scottish Government published its ‘Programme for Government: A Nation
with Ambition’ for the next parliamentary term on 5 September 2017
(http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0052/00524214.pdf). In addition to a proposed Planning
Bill, it contains a number of initiatives which compliment some of the objectives
of the SDP.
11.2 The introduction of a new Planning Bill during 2017/18 is proposed to streamline
the planning process. The bill will “focus on delivering the development Scotland
needs and the infrastructure to support it”. There will be a “simpler, more effective
system of development plans” and “communities will have better opportunities to
influence the future of their areas”. Also referenced are a new approach to
Simplified Planning Zones, modernising Compulsory Purchase Orders and a
Digital Taskforce. Also referenced are the control of betting shops, payday
lenders and food outlets near schools. As would be expected, the Programme
contains significantly less detail than the ‘Position Statement’ (see above).
11.3 The North Sea’s potential for Carbon Capture and Storage continues to be
recognised, in spite of the demise of the two previous proposals at Peterhead
Power Station. Early stage support of £100,000 will underpin the feasibility of the
‘Acorn Project’ at St Fergus in Aberdeenshire, transporting emissions to St Fergus
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from the central belt through an existing pipeline (Feeder 10) for storage under
the North Sea.
11.4 The programme aims to phase out the sale of new petrol and diesel cars and
vans by 2032 and also to introduce Low Emission Zones (LEZs) in all four of
Scotland’s major cities by 2020. This will be achieved by promoting the use of
ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEVs), expanding the Green Bus Fund, procuring
ULEVs for the public sector, expanding the existing charging network and
increased active travel. The government will double investment in walking and
cycling to £80 million a year and introduce a LEZ in one major city by the end of
2018.
11.5 An Innovation Fund of £60 million will be created to wider low carbon energy
infrastructure solutions across Scotland, such as electricity battery storage and
sustainable heating systems and electric vehicles charging.
11.6 The programme also proposes that over the life of the Parliament an investment
of £3 billion will be made in making further progress towards the target of 50,000
affordable homes.
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APPENDIX 1

Places, people and planning
Position Statement
June 2017
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Planning and Architecture Division
The Scottish Government

02

Introduction
The independent review of the planning system
reported in May 2016. In January 2017 we
published Places, People and Planning, setting out an
integrated package of proposed improvements to
planning. Consultation on these proposals closed on
4 April 2017. An independent analysis of views on
the proposals has since been undertaken and a
report has now been published.
The Scottish Government has committed to bring
forward a Planning Bill early in this Parliamentary
session. The Bill is an important element in a wider
programme of work aiming to strengthen planning’s
contribution to inclusive growth and empowering
our communities. Taking into account the wide range
of views on the proposals, this statement describes
the key changes that Scottish Ministers are now
considering taking forward through the forthcoming
Planning Bill, secondary legislation under existing
powers, and other, non-statutory approaches. No
final decisions have been made on the content of
legislation at this stage.
Planning in a changing world
Scotland’s planning system operates within a
complex and changing context. Our current system
has many strengths and there are examples of good
practice across the country. Nevertheless, we need
to ensure that the system works more effectively to
support delivery of development, inclusive growth
and quality of place. People are at the heart of the
system and it must work effectively in all our
interests.
Shared priorities of inclusive growth and community
empowerment will continue to underpin this
programme of reform. The Enterprise and Skills
Review and the emerging update of the National
Transport Strategy and Strategic Transport Projects
Review have helped to shape our proposals.
Providing more good quality homes is a high priority
for this Government, and we must enable different
approaches to delivering the housing we need now
and in the future. Alignment and closer integration
of planning with community planning can and should
help to improve outcomes for communities. It is
important that people have a say in the changes that
affect their places and, equally, we must also be able
deliver the inclusive growth that our economy
requires and the housing that current and future
generations need.
We need a more responsive and flexible approach to
planning in Scotland. To fully realise a more enabling
role for planning, our current system needs to
change. We are aiming to streamline processes Page
whilst encouraging appropriate engagement and
collaboration.

Legislative change will take some time to take effect,
and needs to be accompanied by early actions
supporting inclusive growth priorities. We need to
have the leadership, skills, resources, and
partnerships to proactively and consistently support
development, investment and quality of place across
the country.
We must keep in view the core purpose of planning.
The quality of the places where we live and work can
support health and wellbeing, help to overcome
inequality, create jobs and stimulate investment
whilst ensuring that we minimise and adapt to the
long term impacts of climate change. A stronger
focus on planning and place can add value to all areas
of policy making. A joined up approach to placemaking by all public bodies, communities and
businesses can generate efficiencies and ensure good
outcomes from policies and decisions. By bringing
people together and looking at places ‘in the round’,
planning is uniquely well placed to make these
connections so that we respect, enhance and
sustainably use Scotland’s many assets. Central to
this can be the alignment of community and spatial
planning and the contribution which planning can
make to reducing inequality by supporting inclusive
growth.
Working together to improve the system
We are committed to change which reflects the
varied needs of all people. We will support changes
that improve performance, that strengthen inclusive
growth, that focus on outcomes and improve the
engagement of people in the system. There is wide
support for a plan-led system. The certainty that a
strong and inclusive spatial plan can bring is
important for communities and investors alike.
People make the system work. Whilst we can change
the system, it is clear that success will also depend on
fresh thinking, different mindsets, and a willingness
to work with, and listen to the views of others. The
consultation responses and recent research have
shown the importance of this, with many of those
involved in planning expressing contradictory views
and highlighting a continuing lack of trust in the
current system. Whilst differences in opinion on
planning are inevitable, in time we must all move
beyond our differences to support the
implementation of a new planning system together.
We will continue to work closely with a wide range
of different interests as we take forward our
proposals for change over the coming months.
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03

Our current position on proposed technical changes
Places, People and Planning set out 20 proposals for
change. Having initially considered the responses to
the consultation, as well as ongoing research and
analysis, our current position on these proposals is
set out below. Given the breadth and depth of
views we have received, our consideration of
consultation responses is ongoing. The changes set
out below focus on technical matters and future
legislative amendments, but this forms part of a
much wider programme of reform and behavioural
change in planning.
MAKING PLANS FOR THE FUTURE
1. Aligning community planning and spatial planning.
We suggested that this can be achieved by
introducing a requirement for development plans to
take account of wider community planning and can
be supported through future guidance.
• Most consultees are broadly supportive of this
proposal.
• Some have suggested that a two-way dialogue
or genuine partnership between community
planning and spatial planning would be needed.
• Others feel that the local development plan
should have primacy.
• There are also concerns about any such
requirement slowing down the local
development plan preparation process.
We continue to recognise this as a priority for
securing stronger collaboration and alignment with a
focus on positive outcomes for places. We are
minded to propose a statutory link between
development planning and community planning in
the Planning Bill. We agree with views that spatial
planning should also be better recognised by
community planning, and believe this would be
supported where local authority Chief Executives
‘sign off’ local development plans. Whilst other
partners have a role in community planning, this
would underline the importance of recognising the
links between spatial policy and community planning
outcomes.

2. Regional partnership working.
We suggested that strategic development plans
should be removed from the system so that
planning can better support more proactive
regional partnership working. We want to enable
wider and more flexible collaborative planning
which responds to the different models and
partnerships that are emerging in different places.
By using the National Planning Framework as a
vehicle to support strategic planning, our view was
that procedure, overlap and complexity in the
system of development plans could be significantly
reduced.
• Views on this proposal vary between
stakeholders and in different parts of the country.
• There is some concern that such a change would
amount to centralisation.
• Potential loss of expertise in strategic planning
has also been raised.
• Many feel that a move to more discretionary
powers could weaken, rather than strengthen
strategic planning and there have been calls for
clear statutory duties needed to replace the
current duty to prepare a strategic development
plan.
• Others agree that regional partnerships could
provide a more flexible and delivery-driven
vehicle for co-ordinating development and
infrastructure investment.
• There is also a wide recognition that one size does
not fit all, suggesting that changes which better
reflect distinctive local circumstances would be
welcome.
Having reflected on the consultation responses, we
expect to bring forward changes to remove current
requirements for strategic development plans to be
prepared and replace them with more flexible, but
clearly defined duties and powers at this scale.
We will develop an approach which allows all areas
to undertake strategic planning where it will add
value and in a way which is sufficiently flexible to
allow partnerships to respond to, and build on, local
circumstances and relationships. To achieve this, a
number of duties could be introduced, including:
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• A duty to work together to address nationally and
regionally significant spatial planning and
development issues.
• A duty to undertake joint evidence gathering
including on delivery of cross-boundary
infrastructure requirements.
• A duty to contribute to the preparation and
implementation of a National Planning Framework
delivery programme.
We will also consider additional powers for local
authorities to work individually or in partnership
with others on a more discretionary basis, focusing
on issues with a cross-boundary dimension
including infrastructure delivery and housing.
Authorities would still be free to work together to
prepare spatial strategies for their areas to support
wider regional partnership working. Although they
would not form a statutory development plan, they
could contribute to the evidence base for the
National Planning Framework.
3. Improving national spatial planning and policy.
We suggested that the National Planning Framework
and the Scottish Planning Policy could play a
different role in the system, with enhanced status
helping to streamline the system as a whole and
enabling local development plans to focus on places
and development delivery.

• This has been welcomed by some. There is a
good level of agreement with proposed changes
to the way national policy is prepared.
• Many recognise that this provides an opportunity
to streamline local development plans.
• There are some concerns that a loss of detail
could weaken confidence in the plans.
Respondents from communities have emphasised
that this should not be a top-down ‘imposed’
policy, but should allow for local circumstances to
be taken into account.
It is important that plans are purposeful and
accessible to all those with an interest in them. Restating national policy in local development plans
adds time and complexity. An enhanced National
Planning Framework (NPF) and Scottish Planning
Policy, which together provide an effective
strategic perspective to all of Scotland, can help
simplify our system. We also have the potential to
establish a stronger model of shared responsibility
and co-production in delivering the National
Planning Framework, whilst promoting
development of national importance.

proposed

current
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Given the need to deliver the Planning Bill, Scottish
Ministers do not expect to adopt the next version,
NPF4, within 5 years of NPF3 being produced (by
June 2019). We will issue a fuller, collaborative
programme for preparing NPF4 in due course, but
currently expect its preparation to commence in
2018 with a view to adoption in 2020, and for the
Scottish Planning Policy to be reviewed in parallel.
We will also ensure that the review of the National
Planning Framework is aligned and where possible
integrated with the review of the National Transport
Strategy, Strategic Transport Projects Review and
Infrastructure Investment Plan.

• There are some concerns, particularly from
businesses and the development industry, that a
10 year timescale will lead to plans becoming
outdated.
• Consequently there is strong support for allowing
plans to be updated between review cycles.

4. Stronger local development plans.

We remain of the view that main issues reports
should be replaced with a draft plan, and that
supplementary guidance should be removed. We
will provide greater clarity on how a 10 year
timescale could operate, including through provisions
for plans to be amended or updated between full
review cycles. We are looking closely at how this can
be achieved in a way which is proportionate and
avoids delay, whilst ensuring significant change is
subjected to robust scrutiny. We will define the
specific circumstances where updates may be
triggered within the ten year period. We will also
develop guidance to support any such change which
provides clarity on the relationship between the plan
review cycle, plan preparation period, updates and
delivery programme. The key objective is that
allocations within plans attract greater confidence in
delivery and that planning authorities focus more
proactively on implementation.

We suggested that the plan period should be
extended to 10 years, that the development plan
main issues report and supplementary guidance
should be removed, and a new gatecheck could be
introduced to better frontload scrutiny within plan
examinations.
• There is considerable support for these
proposals, with many agreeing that local
development plans should be strengthened and
made more visionary, providing a clearer
picture of how an area should develop in the
future and improving the link to delivery of
development.
• Many stakeholders agree with the proposal to
replace the main issues report with a draft plan,
and for the proposed frontloading of plan
examinations by introducing a gatecheck.

A key element in our proposals has been the need to
shift towards a focus on delivery and implementation
of plans rather than continuous review and planwriting. We therefore expect to bring forward
changes to procedures for local development plans as
part of the Planning Bill.

Early engagement

Draft plan

Amended
draft plan

Consultation

Feedback
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Examination and Gatecheck

5. Making plans that deliver.

We recognise that fuller information on the issues
which could be covered by a gatecheck within the
examination process would also be helpful. The
purpose of this change is to achieve a more
project-managed approach to development
planning, where key issues are addressed early on
in an open and inclusive way, and there is clarity
and shared ownership of the outcomes being
sought. We expect to include a series of more
detailed requirements in the Planning Bill and / or
related secondary legislation. Matters which could
be tested within the gatecheck could focus on:

We suggested measures for ensuring that
allocating development land in a plan attracts
more confidence in development delivery. This
included setting a minimum level of information
to be provided alongside development proposals
in the local development plan, greater leadership
from planning authorities in zoning land for
development, and a stronger commitment from
the key agencies to the development plan, to
reduce the likelihood of objections arising at the
consenting stage.

• whether there is an adequate evidence base
(e.g. infrastructure capacity, environmental
assets and constraints, housing land
assessments and audits);
• outcomes to be sought from the plan
(housing requirements, targets for other
development types, reuse of vacant and
derelict land);
• proposed departures from national policy on
the basis of local circumstances;
• methods for the plan preparation including the
approach to engaging delivery bodies and the
public, alignment with community planning
and the scope of the accompanying
environmental assessment.
The purpose of the gatecheck would be to provide
reassurance on the evidence base and approach
early enough in the process to take remedial action,
rather than at the end of the process through the
current examination process. Whilst we will look to
clarify Ministers’ powers for intervention in the local
development plan process, our aspiration is that
future arrangements will see more straightforward
examinations as a result of the early gatecheck.
We continue to recognise that mediation has
potential to support development planning, as well
as wider aspects of the system, and will explore this
further in future guidance rather than in the
legislation.

We also proposed that requirements for public
involvement should be increased for sites which
have not been allocated within the plan, and that
conversely there may be scope for reduced
consultation in the case of sites which are already
confirmed as part of the plan.
• There is broad support for moving from
relatively theoretical action planning towards
a stronger delivery programme.
• Some respondents have emphasised that
planning cannot deliver development on its
own, and that buy-in from delivery partners is
crucial.
• Concerns have been expressed, largely by the
development industry, about introducing
requirements for more information on
viability at the site allocation stage and the
proposal for enhanced engagement in the case
of non-allocated sites. However, many other
respondents, including communities, support
this change.
We expect to bring forward measures to
strengthen local development plan delivery
programmes in the Planning Bill and through
changes to secondary legislation.
There is strong support for a plan-led system. We
therefore maintain our view that there should be
enhanced engagement where a site that has not
been allocated in a development plan is brought
forward as an application.
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Equally, we recognise the view that there could be
greater flexibility in engagement requirements and
scope where the principle of development of a site
has already been fully debated and established at
the development plan stage. We will therefore
develop more specific proposals for adjusting preapplication consultation requirements which are
more proportionate for allocated sites. These
proposals are expected to involve future legislative
change, as well as being supported by guidance.
The commitment to a plan led system needs to be
accompanied by some confidence that allocated
sites will be brought forward. Where site
allocations are not being delivered over time,
infrastructure providers face uncertainty and
pressure can increase for sites to be de-allocated in
favour of more effective land allocations. We will
work with stakeholders to explore a proportionate
framework to provide clarity on delivery whilst
minimising additional investment in assessment.
We expect to support this proposal through
secondary legislation and guidance.
PEOPLE MAKE THE SYSTEM WORK
6. Giving people an opportunity to plan their own
place.
We agree with the independent panel that a new
right should be introduced for communities to plan
their own place, and that those plans have the
potential to form part of the statutory development
plan. Proposals for the form this might take were
set out in the consultation paper.

We remain committed to this proposal as an
essential part of re-imagining the role of
communities within the system. We agree that
there is a need to ensure that local place plans are
used to promote appropriate development rather
than as a vehicle to prevent it. We also agree that
the relationship with the wider development plan is
crucial.
We are currently looking at how local place plans
could best be designed to address concerns and
achieve wider buy-in from all interests in planning.
The following key issues will be addressed:
• We expect the Planning Bill to include proposals
for local place plans that are consistent with the
local development plan.
• We are minded to leave processes and
procedures for their preparation as flexible as
possible so that communities themselves can
define the best way of doing this for their area.
• We will set out how local place plans should be
incorporated into the local development plan
through an update that still allows for wider
public consultation and independent scrutiny.
• We also expect that future guidance, learning and
practice will need to be clear that a right to plan
brings with it responsibilities, including to deliver
on agreed needs and essential infrastructure.
We recognise the widespread support for
community councils being involved in preparation
of the development plan scheme and are therefore
minded to take this forward. We would want to
ensure, however, that wider organisations, such as
community development trusts, also have an
important and positive role in helping to deliver
change. Recognising the importance of stronger
links with community planning, we will also look at
the role of locality plans as part of this.

• There is strong support for this proposal,
particularly from communities and the civic
sector.
• There are also concerns about added time and
complexity, the potential to reinforce rather
than resolve conflict, and resource requirements.
As well as legislative change, local place plans in
Many have called for additional resources,
particular will require guidance and support for
support and training.
effective implementation. As a starting point, this
• Many believe that the local development plan
year’s programme of design-led engagement
should set the framework for local place plans.
(‘charrettes’) will explore the challenges and
• There is agreement that community councils
opportunities arising from local place plans in more
could play a role in co-ordinating local
detail.
engagement, whilst recognising that their
capacity and representative-ness is currently
variable and that other bodies have a valuable
role to play.
• There are also concerns that a higher level of
involvement in local place plans could
undermine our broader emphasis on stronger, Page 83
upfront engagement in local development plans.
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7. Getting more people involved in planning.

8. Improving public trust.

We recognise that a wider range of people should
get involved in planning and have suggested that in
particular, the involvement of children and young
people could be supported by future change. We
recently published research on the barriers to
engagement in planning, helping to deepen our
understanding of the issues at play. In addition, a
survey of children and young people, conducted by
YoungScot, has shown a significant amount of
existing engagement, upon which further proposals
can be built.

We suggested a number of changes to improve trust
in planning, including amended requirements for preapplication consultation (PAC) for major and national
developments; such as a requirement to provide
feedback to communities following engagement, and
asking whether there ought to be a time limit for
submission of applications. We suggested removing
the opportunity for applicants to submit a revised or
repeat application at no cost if an application is
refused, withdrawn or if an appeal is dismissed, and
measures to strengthen enforcement. The need for
training in community engagement, involving not
only planning authorities but also the development
sector was highlighted. As noted above, we also
believe that development plan schemes could be
used to secure stronger and more locally tailored
approaches to engagement.

• Many respondents welcome our proposals but
are seeking further detail on what needs to be
done to broaden engagement.
• Views on this vary between sectors, with strong
support from community respondents, alongside
concern from the development sector and some
planning authorities about the value, time
implications and resources required to achieve
fuller engagement.
We intend to bring forward targeted changes to the
existing requirements for engagement to ensure that
children and young people are specifically
encouraged to get more involved in planning. We
are also considering how we can take forward the
recommendations arising from the research,
including steps needed to achieve a real shift away
from consultation towards more meaningful
community empowerment within the planning
system.
Development plan schemes, and in particular
participation statements, could play an important
role in this and we will therefore look to strengthen
the provisions for them in the legislation. We will
also continue to explore the scope for community
empowerment and capacity building which extends
beyond the planning system.

• There is strong support for these proposals from
civil society respondents.
• Some feel that it is important that further
requirements do not create greater conflict and
uncertainty or slow down the system, arguing that
current arrangements are sufficient.
• There are suggestions from across sectors that
more could be done to clarify requirements and
promote good practice in pre-application
consultation.
• Views vary on the role of repeat applications, with
developers expressing concern about loss of
flexibility and increased costs, whilst communities
continue to report that this can be a source of
frustration and mistrust.
• Whilst there is a great deal of support for stronger
enforcement, those who disagree argue that
existing powers are under used, and that statutory
change is not necessary.
We currently expect to progress these changes as
proposed, given the role they could play in building
trust in the planning system. We consider that most
of these proposals can be taken forward through
secondary legislation, although some changes may be
needed in the Bill to ensure that Ministers’ powers
are sufficiently flexible.
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9. Keeping decisions local – rights of appeal.
We suggested looking at the way that reviews and
appeals are handled in the planning system, with
the objective of keeping more decisions local.
• Views on these proposals are mixed and there
appear to be significant concerns with some of
the potential changes.
• Assigning further decisions directly to
Ministers, rather than Reporters has limited
support for different reasons, including
potential for delays.
• There is strong consensus that the training of
local elected members should be made
mandatory.
• Concerns about the way in which local review
bodies operate appear to be influencing the
level of support for more local decisions.
• Views on charging fees for appeals are mixed
with support from communities and planning
authorities, but significant concerns from
businesses and the development sector.
At this stage, we believe there is scope for some
change, for example by looking at how minor
developments such as advertisement consents are
handled through to appeal. Opportunities for other
types of consents to be reviewed locally may be
more limited. We believe that more can be done
through consistency in local schemes of delegation
in order to encourage greater consistency as well
as subsidiarity of decision making. Clear guidance
and sharing of good practice could help to support
this. There would also be merit in reviewing the
effectiveness of local review bodies to explore
lessons learned, share issues and solutions, and
identify scope for future improvement. In the
meantime no further legislative change is
proposed. We do not intend to pursue the
proposal for Ministers to take decisions more
frequently, rather than Reporters. At this stage we
do not propose to introduce fees for lodging either
reviews or appeals.

Places, people and planning

Some respondents are disappointed that we are not
considering introducing equal or third party rights of
appeal. Others strongly support our position on this.
Our view remains unchanged - we are convinced that
stronger early engagement through the extensive
measures set out above would be much more
constructive. We will build on the existing strong
provisions to involve people early in the planning
process rather than at the end, and ensure that our
system works for all, including those who want to
invest in the quality of our places and our economy.
We have noted the positive comments received from
authorities with islands on the proposals for greater
subsidiarity to ensure planning better reflects their
unique circumstances. We will continue to work with
local authorities across Scotland to ensure local
distinctiveness guides the level of flexibility required
in the system. We will also continue to explore the
role that a well-functioning planning system can play
in contributing to the development of economic
activity in rural Scotland and we will island proof the
Planning Bill.
BUILDING MORE HOMES AND DELIVERING
INFRASTRUCTURE
10. Being clear about how much housing land is
required.
The consultation paper was clear that more needs to
be done to support housing delivery and we maintain
that view. Work on planning for housing is ongoing
alongside developing proposals for legislative change.
We proposed that more could be done nationally,
through the National Planning Framework, to guide
the level of housing land required in local
development plans.

• Different stakeholders have concerns about this
proposal.
• Some do not support what they perceive to be
centralisation, removing decisions on housing away
from the local context, reducing transparency and a
loss of flexibility.
We are exploring the scope for mandatory training
• There are mixed views from the development
industry, including some concerns that too flexible
for elected members who are serving on a
an approach at a national or regional level will do
planning committee or Local Review Body,
little to improve clarity, as well as calls for greater
potentially supported with testing. We have
involvement and challenge in the Housing Needs
already offered financial support to planning
and Demands Assessment (HNDA) process.
authorities who are taking forward training
• Planning authorities and others argue that a clear
following the May 2017 local elections.
national steer on housing land requirements would
be welcomed if it helps to streamline local
Page 85
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We have taken into account responses to the
consultation, including the wide range of views on
whether or not housing figures should be set at a
national or local level.
Whilst it will be important to ensure that future
changes to the planning system are equipped to deal
effectively with planning for housing, we expect this
to be addressed as a priority in policy and guidance,
rather than through structural change to the system.
Bearing in mind our proposals for enhancing the role
of the National Planning Framework and Scottish
Planning Policy, we will continue to work with
housing professionals, planning authorities and
developers to identify a solution which minimises the
level of debate on how much land is required for
housing. The objective is to allow everyone to focus
more on delivering sufficient good quality housing
which improves places and is supported by the right
infrastructure.
11. Closing the gap between planning consent and
delivery of homes.
We suggested that planning authorities could take
more steps to actively help deliver development.
Much of this would be supported by the wider
proposed changes to the planning system as a whole,
and the consultation paper noted that in addition,
planning authorities could do more to enable
development through greater use of existing powers
(such as Compulsory Purchase Orders) as well as new
and emerging delivery models and approaches. We
also called for major applications for housing to be
accompanied by appropriate information on
development viability.
• Views on how this can be achieved range from
those who argue that they will have little impact
on delivery to others who are concerned that a
drive to improve delivery could come at an
environmental or social cost.
• Planning authorities have emphasised that their
influence on the type of homes provided is
limited.
• There are wider views that the lack of
competition in the housing market (e.g. from
smaller builders) is impacting on the diversity of
homes delivered.
• There is agreement that planning can and should
do more to support the delivery of different types
of homes in different locations.

Page

• Communities have emphasised the importance of
creating high quality places rather than too great
a focus on housing numbers. Within this, there is
support for brownfield land in preference to
greenfield sites, protection of prime agricultural
land, and better co-ordination of housing with
local facilities and infrastructure.
• The proposal for fuller information on
development viability to support major
applications has been welcomed by communities
and most planning and policy respondents, but is
not supported by the majority of development
industry respondents. Some respondents have
pointed out that assessments can change over
time and that different circumstances will
determine whether or not it can be made
available.
Housing delivery is a continuing priority for this
review. We will continue to work with others,
including through the More Homes Scotland
approach, to ensure that planning does all it can to
enable the building of more high quality homes of a
broader range of types, and in a way which
strengthens places and quality of life. We remain
clear that planning for housing should recognise the
importance of working with our environmental
assets to create great places.
We maintain that fuller information on the viability
of sites and development delivery should be part of
a planning process and will continue to develop this
further with a view to future guidance.
Whilst changes to Compulsory Purchase Orders,
Compulsory Sale Orders and a development land
tax could all influence the context for planning for
housing, we are exploring options around these
separately and they will not be taken forward as
part of the Planning Bill. We will, however, pursue
revised guidance for operation of existing CPO
powers in the short term.
12. Releasing more ‘development ready’ land for
housing.
We suggested that greater use of a zoned approach
to development has potential to support housing
delivery. We are now progressing four pilot
Simplified Planning Zones in Aberdeenshire, Argyll
and Bute, North Ayrshire and Dumfries and
Galloway to explore the potential for this further.
We have also undertaken research, including a factfinding visit to Ireland to look at their use of
Strategic
Development Zones.
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• There is support for this in principle, but also
questions about the extent to which this might
result in a loss of development quality or
engagement, or could undermine wider
commitments to robust environmental assessment
and design.
• Communities want to ensure that zoned areas are
well serviced by infrastructure, fully consulted on
and assessed for their impacts, including on the
environment.
• Business and development industry respondents
broadly welcome the proposal but are seeking
further information.
• Questions have been raised about funding, both
for establishing a zone and for providing the
infrastructure, with some noting that fees would
be lost whilst upfront resources would be needed.
• Others question the appropriateness of allocating a
large area of land for a single use and there are
calls for design, masterplanning and / or coding to
be used to ensure quality of place.
We remain of the view that zoning has potential to
unlock significant areas for housing development,
including by supporting alternative delivery models
such as custom and self-build. This could also
support wider objectives including business
development and town centre renewal.
We expect to bring forward proposals for legislative
change that will refresh and rebrand Simplified
Planning Zones and allow them to be progressed in a
wider range of circumstances. These changes will be
designed in a way which addresses issues raised in
the consultation including the need for
environmental assessment, design and quality to be
built into schemes, and community engagement to be
incorporated. We are also minded to make provision
for discretionary charging. We will look at
broadening the way in which the idea of establishing
a zone can be progressed, including by allowing for
Ministers to direct a zone to be established where it
is in the national interest. Both local authorities and
site promoters could also be given scope to bring
proposals for zoning forward.
As with our wider aim of delivering more homes,
opportunities for design, innovation and placemaking
should be integral to these proposals.

13. Embedding an infrastructure first approach.
Effective infrastructure planning can ensure that
places function properly and development improves,
rather than detracts from quality of life. The
consultation considered infrastructure governance,
duties and responsibilities. We invited views on our
proposal for a national working group to co-ordinate
infrastructure and planning and also on whether our
proposals for regional scale strategic planning would
improve planning for infrastructure.
• A range of views have emerged from the
consultation - most agree that some sort of action
is required to address the issue and progress
change.
• Some believe there is a need for a new national
body, in many cases businesses or the
development industry, and argue that a less
formal arrangement would lack impetus.
• Others support a working group approach on the
basis of concerns about creating another agency
and ‘increasing bureaucracy’.
• Co-ordination and communication is widely
recognised as a priority, and many agree that
there is scope to build on existing experience.
• There are also concerns about the extent to which
an agency or delivery group would treat different
areas of Scotland equitably.
• Scottish Ministers remain of the view that a new
agency is not needed to improve the links
between planning and infrastructure. We have
also taken into account views that a working
group may or may not lack influence or impetus.
As there are different views on appropriate
arrangements, but consensus on a need for action
in the short term, we have asked the Scottish
Futures Trust to work with us to take forward
support for significant stalled sites in combination
with the ongoing brokerage role of the Chief
Planner. This will also link with the More Homes
Scotland programme. Rather than having
statutory powers, this would be led by the
Scottish Government and involve infrastructure
providers as and when required. We believe a
task based approach is likely to have the greatest
impact in the shortest time.
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Furthermore, we are continuing to consider options
for a national delivery group to support improved
co-ordination of development and infrastructure
issues. To inform this we will continue a dialogue
with the current key agencies and private sector
delivery partners including transport (rail),
electricity, gas, heat, telecommunications and digital
infrastructure providers. Over the coming months,
this would provide a useful forum to discuss any
potential changes to duties and powers to be
considered for inclusion in the legislation.
We will continue to engage in the forthcoming
review of the Infrastructure Investment Plan to
ensure that the National Planning Framework
informs decision making about future investment
priorities. As proposals take shape, continuing
alignment with ongoing work on the Enterprise and
Skills Review and the National Transport Strategy’s
review of transport governance at the national,
regional and local levels will be critical over the
coming months.
Our proposal to move strategic development
planning towards regional partnership working can
also help to improve infrastructure governance and
co-ordination. Infrastructure planning, from
transport and utilities to catchment scale water and
flooding management and green networks, requires
a strong evidence base and often a cross boundary
perspective. To develop the regional scale of
infrastructure planning in more detail, we will
explore approaches to regional infrastructure audits
further over the coming months. We will also
continue to work with infrastructure providers to
define how best to facilitate their involvement in
the planning system.
14. Creating a fairer and more transparent approach
to funding infrastructure.
We suggested that a new means of capturing land
value uplift, in the form of an infrastructure levy,
could be used to strengthen the scope for planning
to support the delivery of development. We
commissioned research and published a report of
Stage 1 and 2 of this work alongside the
consultation paper in January 2017. We also
proposed removing scope for Section 75 planning
obligations to be modified or discharged (Section
75A).

• There appears to be general support for the
principle of introducing a levy, but views vary
on the form it should take.
• Many consultees are seeking further
information before reaching a view on whether
or not it would be a positive change.
• The development industry are questioning what
a levy would fund, with concerns that it would
be used to replace central funding for
infrastructure.
• Businesses are seeking more information on the
impacts on project viability and are concerned
that it could apply to development which has
no impact on infrastructure.
• Public sector respondents consider that the
amount of money a levy might raise may be
limited, and that it may not help if it does not
make funds available to support upfront costs.
• There is support for a mechanism which could
supplement the contributions gathered through
Section 75 planning obligations and a
recognition of a need for different solutions.
• Strong views opposing the removal of Section
75A on the part of the development sector
contrast with strong support for this change by
communities.
We remain of the view that options for a levy or
charge merit further consideration. We will
finalise and publish a Stage 3 research report
which identifies options that could be tested
further. We will continue to explore this with
assistance from the Scottish Futures Trust before
coming to a view on the level of detail that can or
should be included in the Planning Bill.
Having considered responses to the consultation
as well as evidence on appeal cases for Section
75A in more detail, we are not currently minded to
remove the provisions at Section 75A for
modifying planning obligations. However, we
remain open to considering whether changes to
Section 75 may be required in connection with
future decisions on the role of a levy.
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15. Innovative infrastructure planning.
We highlighted a number of other planning priorities
in Places, People and Planning including education,
transport, green infrastructure, energy and digital
infrastructure. This work continues to progress,
involving extensive collaboration across Scottish
Government policy areas. We have taken forward
enhanced permitted development rights for
telecommunications infrastructure and will continue
our work on education infrastructure planning in the
coming months.
We also sought views on whether Section 3F of the
Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, as
introduced by Section 72 of the Climate Change
(Scotland) Act 2009 should be removed. There
appears to be general support for this, based on our
view that it has limited added value. However, there
are some concerns that removing this appears to be
inconsistent with the aspirations of the emerging
Climate Change Plan. Given our commitment to
climate change and the need for every policy area to
contribute to reducing emissions, it is not our
intention to progress this through the Planning Bill.
STRONGER LEADERSHIP AND SMARTER
RESOURCING
16. Developing skills to deliver outcomes.
We noted the importance of skills, including
leadership, to support an improved planning system.
We have now received recommendations from
Heads of Planning Scotland (HoPS) and the Royal
Town Planning Institute (RTPI) Scotland on skills
development and shared services.
• There is widespread support for multidisciplinary
working and opportunities to develop skills, such
as internships and secondments.
• Priorities for training emerging from the
responses include: leadership, mediation,
development economics and finance, project
management, design, placemaking, archaeology,
environmental assessment and energy planning.
• There are some concerns about time and
resources required, and that planning education
needs to focus on practical skills.

We will continue to work with RTPI Scotland,
Heads of Planning Scotland, COSLA and the
Improvement Service on skills development. We
will also explore the scope for shared services, and
expect there could be particular benefit in
developing more effective sharing of expertise in
some specialisms such as archaeology or
environmental assessment.
17. Investing in a better service.
We set out a range of proposals for which
additional fees could be charged in order to ensure
that the planning service can be better resourced.
This included possible charges for appeals and
reviews of decisions, agency services, preapplication discussions, Simplified Planning Zones,
repeat applications, advertising costs (as part of a
fee), central government functions, enhanced
services or fast tracked applications.
• Responses to the consultation show agreement
that planning is under-resourced.
• Many consultees feel that any increased income
should be proportionate and ring-fenced to
ensure it is invested back into the planning
service.
• There are some concerns about more specific
proposals for fees, including mixed views on
fees for services provided by agencies and fees
for appeals.
• Several interests (including energy
developers, those operating in rural and island
communities) have particular concerns about fees
and the impact this would have on development
viability.
• Many believe that an increase in fees should be
matched with improved performance.
• There have been calls for any change in fees to
be gradual and / or flexible to reflect different
sectors and circumstances.

We believe that there is a need to ensure that the
system is properly supported if it is to deliver on a
more ambitious, enabling agenda. Following a
separate consultation, we have increased the
maximum planning fee. We will not consult on
further changes until after the Planning Bill has
been considered by Parliament, to ensure we have
a clear idea of the resource implications arising
from the finalised changes to the planning system.
However, given the limited existing powers in
current legislation around resourcing, we expect
the Planning Bill to include additional enabling
Pagepowers
89 that provide scope to widen discretionary
charging and to extend the range of services for
which fees can be charged.
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We recognise that the development and business
sectors have some concerns about the impact of
further charging on development viability and
wider investment. Whilst it is too early to set it out
in detail, as proposals emerge we will continue to
evaluate their impact including through the
requirement for a Business and Regulatory Impact
of any relevant legislative change and the Financial
Memorandum that will accompany the Planning Bill.
18. A new approach to improving performance.
Our proposals on improved performance reflected
the importance of ensuring a good quality service
for all users of the planning service. We asked how
planning authorities could be supported to improve
their performance and whether there is support for
monitoring outcomes from planning more than
procedures.
• Many consultees welcome the proposal to
monitor outcomes, including on health and
wellbeing as well as climate change and carbon
emissions.
• Some suggest that the Place Standard could
provide an ideal measure of how a place has
changed.
• There is support for a proposal to introduce 360
degree feedback as part of performance
monitoring.
• Some respondents have concerns about
retaining the penalty clause, with views that it
is a negative approach and that performance
would be better improved with support rather
than sanction.
The proposed changes to fees will not reduce
Ministers’ focus on a high performing system. We
will continue to work with the High Level Group
and others in pursuit of improved performance.

• There is support for expanding permitted
development rights from many consultees,
including those areas set out in the consultation
paper (digital telecommunications, low carbon
developments, development supporting the
farming sector, allotments and community
growing schemes, town centre uses and
aquaculture).
• Other areas proposed include energy
infrastructure, broader agricultural uses, and
some household extensions and alterations.
• Some consultees have concerns about the impact
this could have, for example on conservation
areas or rural areas.
• There are also mixed views on options for
changes to development management, including
some questions around the value of predetermination hearings and full council decisions,
and the legislation relating to the duration of
approved planning permissions.
We remain of the view that broadening the scope
for permitted development could play a significant
role in making best use of resources in the planning
system. Heads of Planning Scotland has since
progressed work in this area and we will give more
detailed consideration to the proposals, along with
the priority areas identified in the consultation
paper.
We are currently minded to take forward a range of
improvements to development management
procedures, and will give further consideration to
consultation responses to inform our approach.
20. Innovation, designing for the future and the
digital transformation of the planning service.
The consultation paper highlighted the importance
of digital technologies and innovation to support
the future planning service.

19. Making better use of resources: efficient
decision making.
The consultation paper set out opportunities to
streamline the system including by increasing
permitted development rights and simplifying
development management procedures.

• There is considerable support for this proposal
and a welcoming of the service already
provided under the eDevelopment programme.
• Many feel that better use of digital technology,
whether in the form of 3D visualisations or
improved use of digital communication tools,
could provide a step change in the way the
planning system operates.
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• Some concerns relate to resources and there
have been calls for a central resource to support
local authorities in moving to maximise
opportunities through digital transformation.
• Some also expressed concerns about potential
for digital exclusion.

Next Steps

We recognise the huge potential that exists through
harnessing use of digital technologies and data more
effectively and will be setting out our ambitions for a
future digital planning service in Scotland shortly.
We are moving forward with establishing a Digital
Task Force to lead and shape these broad and
transformational aspirations, as well as inform on
more specific ideas and innovation in this key area.

Further views on the additional details provided
in this statement and in response to the Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA) Environmental
Report are invited by 11 August 2017.

Questions
1.
Do you have any views on the proposals
contained within the position statement? There is no
need to restate views already expressed in relation
to Places, People and Planning as these have been,
and will continue to be, taken into account as we
move towards finalising the actions to be taken.
2.
What are your views on the accuracy and
scope of the information used to describe the SEA
environmental baseline set out in the Environmental
Report? (Please give details of additional relevant
sources).

We have taken an open and collaborative
approach to the review of the planning system to
date, and intend to maintain this transparency as
the work progresses.

Responses should be sent to
planningreview@gov.scot. We are conscious that
many people have already spent considerable
time contributing to the review, and so there is no
need to restate views already expressed in
relation to Places, People and Planning. These
views have been, and will continue to be, taken
into account as we move forward.
We will continue to keep stakeholders updated on
progress and will undertake targeted engagement
on certain proposals. We will also be undertaking
engagement with specific organisations and
others to help inform the Business and
Regulatory Impact Assessment, Child Rights and
Wellbeing Impact Assessment and the Equality
Impact Assessment which will be submitted to
the Scottish Parliament alongside the Planning
Bill.

3.
What are your views on the predicted
environmental effects as set out in the
Environmental Report?
4.
What are your views on the findings of the
SEA and the proposals for mitigation and monitoring
of the environmental effects set out in the
Environmental Report?
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RESPONDING TO THIS CONSULTATION
Next steps in the process

We are inviting responses to this consultation
by 11 August 2017
Please respond to this consultation using the Scottish
Government’s consultation platform, Citizen Space.
You can view and respond to this consultation online
at https://consult.scotland.gov.uk/planningarchitecture/a-consultation-on-the-future-ofplanning. You can save and return to your responses
while the consultation is still open. Please ensure that
consultation responses are submitted before the
closing date of 11 August2017
If you are unable to respond online, please complete
the Respondent Information Form (see “Handling
your Response” below) to:
Planningreview@gov.scot or

Where respondents have given permission for their
response to be made public, and after we have
checked that they contain no potentially defamatory
material, responses will be made available to the
public at http://consult.scotland.gov.uk. If you use
Citizen Space to respond, you will receive a copy
of your response via email.
Following the closing date, all responses will be
analysed and considered along with any other
available evidence to help us. Responses will be
published where we have been given permission
to do so.
Comments and complaints
If you have any comments about how this
consultation exercise has been conducted, please
send them to:

Planning and Architecture Division
The Scottish Government
2-H South
Victoria Quay
Edinburgh
EH6 6QQ

Planningreview@gov.scot or

Handling your response
If you respond using Citizen Space (http://consult.
scotland.gov.uk/), you will be directed to the
Respondent Information Form. Please indicate
how you wish your response to be handled and,
in particular, whether you are happy for your
response to published.
If you are unable to respond via Citizen Space,
please complete and return the Respondent
Information Form which can be accessed at
https://beta.gov.scot/policies/planning-architecture/
reforming-planning-system/. If you ask for your
response not to be published, we will regard it
as confidential, and we will treat it accordingly.
All respondents should be aware that the Scottish
Government is subject to the provisions of the
Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 and
would therefore have to consider any request
made to it under the Act for information relating
to responses made to this consultation exercise.

Planning and Architecture Division
The Scottish Government
2-H South
Victoria Quay
Edinburgh
EH6 6QQ
Scottish Government consultation process
Consultation is an essential part of the policy-making
process. It gives us the opportunity to consider your
opinion and expertise on a proposed area of work.
You can find all our consultations online:
http://consult.scotland.gov.uk. Each consultation
details the issues under consideration, as well as
a way for you to give us your views, either online, by
email or by post.
Consultations may involve seeking views in a
number of different ways, such as public meetings,
focus groups, or other online methods such as
Dialogue
(https://www.ideas.gov.scot)
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Responses will be analysed and used as part of the
decision making process, along with a range of other
available information and evidence. We will publish
a report of this analysis for every consultation.
Depending on the nature of the consultation
exercise the responses received may:
• indicate the need for policy development or
review
• inform the development of a particular policy
• help decisions to be made between alternative
policy proposals
• be used to finalise legislation before it is
implemented
While details of particular circumstances described
in a response to a consultation exercise may usefully
inform the policy process, consultation exercises
cannot address individual concerns and comments,
which should be directed to the relevant public
body.
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APPENDIX 2
Places, People and Planning Position Statement & SEA
Consultation Response
The Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Planning Authority (SDPA) has
been actively engaged at every stage in the planning review since its inception in
mid-2015. However, we are still waiting for a clear rationale for removing strategic
development plans (and strategic development planning authorities) from the
planning system and a clear vision for what the Scottish Government want to replace
it with. As a consequence, it is not possible to claim the proposals represent an
improvement. As far as strategic planning is concerned, there is no evidence that the
proposed new arrangements will either work or address any potential weaknesses of
the current system. Progressing with implementation through a Planning Bill in this
context is a very high-risk strategy. The fact that the Scottish Government has yet to
decide how it will plan for housing (Proposal 10) only increases the risk to what is a
critical issue for the country. Without confidence that the system will be improved, the
SDPA cannot support the reforms proposed.
As with our previous responses, this contribution is limited to those aspects of the
‘Position Statement’ and ‘SEA Environmental Report’ which most directly relate to the
work of the SDPA, primarily proposals contained within the ‘Making plans for the
future’ and ‘Building more homes and delivering infrastructure’ sections.
General
Although timescales have been very short since the previous consultation closed and
there is a recognition that consideration of consultation responses is ongoing, in
practice there is little understanding of what is likely to be contained in the
forthcoming Planning Bill, particularly in relation to the most strategic elements of the
consultation – proposals 1, 2, 3, 10 and 13. With so little clarity here it is difficult to
envisage what the structure of the reviewed planning system will be.
The fact is that a majority of planning authorities and a significant majority of
housebuilders do not agree that the proposed package of reforms will either (A)
improve development planning, or (C) help deliver more homes and the infrastructure
we need. This should have led the Scottish Government to question the wisdom of
continuing with the current proposals. The ‘Analysis of consultation responses’ is
useful in this regard – particularly pages 30-34, 101&102, 122 & 123.
It is to be hoped that further consideration of the consultation responses will highlight
the need to change the current position on proposed changes.
Making Plans for the future (Proposals 1 – 4)
1 – The proposal is asymmetric and does not appear to meet the objective of a twoway relationship. A Chief Executive signing off a plan will not be sufficient to
counterbalance the one-way legal requirement.
2 – There has still been no evidence presented to justify the proposals here, or any
clarity as to what SDPs / SDPAs are being replaced with. While there was a very
small margin in favour of the proposal (51:49), it is illustrative that from the ‘Policy
and Planning’ group the balance was 68:32 against removing strategic development
plans. However, the question posed in the consultation wasn’t balanced in that it
compared strategic development plans with ‘improved regional partnership working’
95 in practice. There is a welcome
without any real indication of what this Page
might mean

recognition that the new arrangement will require ‘duties’ rather than just ‘powers’,
although there is a danger that these could be too weak. Any non-statutory regional
spatial strategies would need to be afforded some weight in the decision-making
process or the value of preparing them would be undermined. While it is recognised
that this could be a feature of future policy, legislation could require local
development plans to have regard to it during their preparation. While a duty to
contribute to the preparation and Implementation of an NPF delivery programme is
one thing, this fails to address the more significant issue of the preparation of NPF
and SPP itself. Confidence in the statutory process for their preparation will be vital if
regional planning frameworks are to be presented in it. Care will also need to be
taken about introducing non-councillors into planning decision-making given the
potential conflict with the Councillor Code of Conduct.
The timing for the preparation of SPP/NPF presented in the document (publication
due in 2020) gives very real transitionary issues for the SDPA and both Councils.
With an SDP due to be approved in mid-2019, it would be extremely unlikely for
either LDP to be adopted before the publication of the revised SPP/NPF. In this
context, transitional arrangements and clarity of expectations from the Scottish
Government at an early stage will be key to avoid abortive work at a time of limited
resources.
3 – The original question in the consultation was flawed as it didn’t allow for the
option of ‘neither’ NPF nor SPP being given more weight in decision-making.
However, it was good to see in the analysis of responses that there was a sizable
number of responses that made this comment – even if it wasn’t possible to quantify
it. Clear processes and accountability need to be established in the preparation of
SPP and NPF to ensure that it has the confidence of regional partnerships and other
stakeholders, including communities. The light-touch approach of current legislation
and regulation would not seem appropriate given their potentially elevated status.
Building more homes and delivering infrastructure (Proposals 10 – 15)
10 – There is now very little clarity about what the Scottish Government’s proposals
are in relation to planning for housing, although the stated objective is now to ‘identify
a solution which minimises the level of debate on how much land for housing is
required’. While this objective is welcomed, the framework needs to be set out now
as the current mechanism used across most of the country (SDPs) are being
removed. Policy and guidance are identified as the means by which the issues will be
addressed (rather than legislative change), although elsewhere 2020 is the date
given for a reviewed SPP/NPF which would presumably be the means through which
it is done. As a consequence we do not know what role NPF/SPP will have in setting
housing targets and housing land requirements in future. This introduces a very
significant level of uncertainty and risk to the review process. This is particularly
concerning since housing was one of the original reasons for the review and yet
there is no clarity whatsoever about how improvements can be made. We have
always been clear about how much housing land is required but we currently have no
confidence that the current proposals will match or improve this.
13 – As with other aspects of the review, there appears to be an assumption that the
removal of SDPs will help to improve infrastructure planning, coordination and
governance. There is no evidence for this.
14 – We look forward to reviewing the Stage 3 research on an infrastructure levy
when published. However, it would appear that it is proposed to insert something into
the Planning Bill on this subject with no further consultation. We are of the view that
this would be a mistake given the complexity and importance of the issues involved.
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15 – There appears to be no evidence to support the retention of s3F, yet it would
seem that the Scottish Government has changed its mind and taken the decision to
retain it (in spite of strong consultation responses supporting its removal). Policy
should be based on evidence, not the way a particular action will be perceived by
others. Unfortunately this is perhaps the most blatant example in the document of
actions being proposed without clarity, a robust rationale or evidence that they will
have positive consequences. Planning needs to be allowed to contribute to
addressing climate change in real and substantial ways, not by pretending it can
have an influence where it can’t. This isn’t in the interests of mitigating climate
change, planning or indeed public trust in the planning system. It is hoped that this
decision will be re-considered.
While an update following consultation is welcome, it would appear that the timing of
the Planning Bill is pushing timetables to the extent that it is not clear what the
Scottish Government is trying to achieve. No detail has been provided on any of the
changes which the SDPA responded to. This must make it likely that the Planning Bill
will be based on a weak foundation.

Strategic Environmental Appraisal
Q2
The proposals set out in the original ‘Places, People and Planning’ consultation
paper and the subsequent Position Statement are often too vague to give any idea
as to what environmental impact they may have and they have a high level of
uncertainty attributable to their impacts.
[3.3.3] In relation to Proposal 2, there is no evidence for the claimed benefits. Current
arrangements could be claimed to have these benefits but there is no evidence to
suggest that the changes proposed will lead to any improvements and may just as
well have significant negative impacts where the level of cross-boundary working is
reduced (in the very areas where evidence has shown it to be necessary through the
previous planning review).
[3.3.13] In relation to Proposal 10, this could lead to binding housing targets being set
at the national level and on a geography detached from the operation of housing
markets, therefore detaching these decisions from an appreciation of their likely
environmental consequences. This could also be applied to SPP as well in policy
terms, with policy being applied without explicitly considering the local consequences
(particularly if a review of SPP automatically takes precedence over local LDP policy
until it has a chance to be reviewed [3.3.4]).
[3.3.22] In relation to Proposal 15, retaining s3F is likely to give the impression of
helping to address climate change but in reality distract attention (and investment)
from actions which could make a real difference. As a consequence, it merely acts as
a smoke-screen and could be seen as actually having a negative impact on climate
change – evidence has already shown that is doesn’t have a positive effect as it
stands.
Q3
Mitigation – it will be important that the potentially negative impacts of the proposed
changes are taken into account as the structure of the new system becomes clear
through the drafting of primary and secondary legislation, regulations, circulars and
NPF/SPP themselves. It is likely to be at these stages that the environmental impacts
of the proposals will be identified with more certainty and can be mitigated.
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APPENDIX 3
PLANNING PROPOSAL
Local Planning Authority: Aberdeen City Council
Proposal: Proposed Community and Sports Facilities, Football Academy, (comprising
outdoor pitches, pavilion, ancillary buildings), Stadium (20,000 capacity), ancillary
uses, formation of access roads, parking and associated landscaping and engineering
works | Land At West Kingsford (North Of The A944 Road) Skene Road Aberdeen AB15
8QR (Re-consultation)
Reference No: 170021/DPP
Date received: 24 May 2017
Case Officer: Garfield Prentice

Target date: 20 June 2017

STRATEGIC PLANNING OBSERVATIONS
Context
Aberdeen City Council has re-consulted the SDPA on the above application following the
submission of a substantial quantity of additional information by the applicant. While some
of the information relates to the justification for the scheme, other aspects change the detail
of the proposed development. The application seeks approval for a football stadium and
campus development on an unallocated site forming part of the Aberdeen City Greenbelt to
the west of the AWPR junction between Kingswells and Westhill. The revisions to the
original development would primarily comprise:




A reduction in on site car parking from 1,600 to 1,350 (-250) as requested by Aberdeen
City Council in order to conform with parking standards;
The stadium’s façade has been altered to soften its appearance.
The applicant has proposed a bus route plan with city centre pick-ups to transport fans to
the stadium.

Site selection and justification
The application is clearly a high footfall generating use. This appears to be accepted by some
components of the applicant’s supplementary documents but rejected by others. The
sequential approach to site selection and associated policy framework are therefore key to
determination of the application. The SDPA’s original response didn’t claim that the proposed
uses required a city centre location, only that the sequential approach should be followed.
The attempt at justifying the absolute necessity of co-location of the stadium with the training
pitches and academy are particularly weak, based on assertions rather than justification and
based in some cases on information a decade old. We are unaware of an up-to-date viability
appraisal of the project.
No attempt has been made in the economic impact assessment to assess the impact of
relocating the stadium away from a regeneration priority area as would be required in line with
draft Scottish Government advice on assessing net economic benefit.
If the Community Trust are trying to target the city’s most disadvantaged young people, the
evidence presented in the economic impact assessment suggests it would be difficult to
propose a less suitable location.
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Greenbelt site comparisons
In relation to the greenbelt, the Bellfield Farm site was approved under policy at that time
which explicitly allowed an exception to the greenbelt policy (if there were to be a successful
Scottish bid to co-host the Euro 2008 football tournament), while the Loirston site was
approved in the context of an allocation in a proposed LDP as a material consideration.
Sustainable transport
It is not the role of the SDPA to conduct a detailed review of the Transport Assessment and
its addendum. However, a detailed examination of this will be required given some of the
changes between the two versions. The revised information (including a revision to the
application as summarised above) reduces the number of parking spaces by 250 with no
reduction in the number of cars accessing the site (now 2.1 cars per available space, or 1,542
cars with no identified parking).
No attempt has been made to justify 4,500 fans using shuttle buses. It must be reasonable to
expect that a proportion of these would resort to accessing the site by car.
Fundamentally the site does not contribute to reducing the need to travel by car or encourage
people to walk, cycle or use public transport by making these attractive choices, as required
by the SDP.
OTHER OBSERVATIONS AND POLICY CONCLUSION
The applicant has provided additional information and amended the application in some
respects following its original submission. However the revised information does not
address in a satisfactory way any of the issues raised in the SDPA’s original submission.
As a consequence the original submission continues to be the position of the SDPA,
supplemented by this response.
Author: Tom Walsh

Date: 17 July 2017

Note: This is a consultation response provided by the Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development
Planning Authority (SDPA) to inform Aberdeen City Council in the exercise of its functions under the Town
and Country Planning Act 1997. The SDPA does not (and cannot) form a view as to whether the application
should be granted or refused. The weight to be attached to this response is a matter for Aberdeen City
Council.
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APPENDIX 4
SDPA 2nd SUPPLEMENTARY
CONSULTATION RESPONSE
PLANNING PROPOSAL
Local planning authority: Aberdeen City Council
Proposal: Proposed Community and Sports Facilities, Football Academy, (comprising
outdoor pitches, pavilion, ancillary buildings), Stadium (20,000 capacity), ancillary
uses, formation of access roads, parking and associated landscaping and engineering
works | Land At West Kingsford (North Of The A944 Road) Skene Road Aberdeen AB15
8QR (Re-consultation #2)
Reference No: 170021/DPP
Date received: 1 August 2017
Case Officer: Gavin Evans

Target date: 30 August 2017

STRATEGIC PLANNING OBSERVATIONS
Context
The SDPA responded to the initial consultation on 20 February 2017, with a supplementary
response submitted on 17 July 2017 following further information submitted by the
applicant. This is therefore the second supplementary response, submitted in light of the
further tranche of additional information submitted by the applicant on 1 August 2017 –
primarily the ‘Statement on Co-Location, Site Selection and Sequential Test’.
Co-location
The applicant has asserted that there are numerous benefits for the club if all its facilities are
located at one site. This has been supplemented by references from other clubs to the effect
that co-location would be their preference as well if the option was available. However, this
does not demonstrate the need to have co-location but merely that it is preferable for the club.
The applicant has still not adequately addressed the need to co-locate activities on one site.
In light of this, the sequential test should be approached on the basis of separating the
stadium from the training facilities.
Significant footfall generating uses and the sequential test
Scottish Planning Policy states that uses which generate significant levels of footfall should
use a sequential test to demonstrate that sequentially preferable sites are not available.
Rather than address this issue, the applicant has decided to continue to dispute that the
proposal is a significant footfall generating use (SFGU) on the basis that its use would be
intermittent. It is also argued that there is no definition or LDP policy relating to SFGUs and
that as the Council did not initially request a sequential test during the EIA scoping process
it is not necessary.
The supporting statement refers to supporters numbering 357,500 p.a. without accounting
for the use of the stadium for other functions or the use of the training pitches and by the
Community Trust. The proposal is therefore clearly an SFGU and Aberdeen City Council
has clearly stated this as their position as well. The inclusion in the latest submission of a
proposed footbridge across the A944 at the Arnhall junction to cope with the scale of fans
seeking to cross the road (from an area of parking in excess of the maximum parking
requirements) is an indication of the footfall generated. However, the bridge appears to be
narrow, lack disabled access, outwith the red-line boundary of the application and partially
in the adjacent council area (Aberdeenshire), with no indication given as to its potential
visual impact on this important entrance to Westhill.
As previously stated and the reason additional supporting information has been requested is
that a sequential approach to site selection and associated policy framework are key to
determining the application (the greenbelt
being
one of a number of issues). The SDPA’s
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previous responses explicitly didn’t claim that the proposal required a city centre location, but
that a sequential approach should be followed to site selection, in line with Scottish Planning
Policy.
The applicant’s continued assertion of the benefits of co-locating the stadium and ancillary
facilities do not amount to a need and continue to be weak. While additional information has
been submitted it seems to be more a repackaging of existing information rather than anything
new or substantive. The applicant has not effectively discounted the availability of alternative
and sequentially preferable sites if the different uses proposed were to be provided for
separately.
OTHER OBSERVATIONS AND POLICY CONCLUSION
The applicant has twice provided additional information in support of the application since its
original submission. However the most recent revised information does not address in a
satisfactory way any of the issues raised in the SDPA’s previous submissions so they remain
the SDPA’s position. The latest tranche of additional information in support of the application
further complicates the assessment process as mitigation is now being proposed (a new
pedestrian bridge) which has not been assessed in terms of its capacity, visual impact or
deliverability as part of this application.
Improving and modernising the facilities of Aberdeen Football Club are supported by the SDP,
as is the provision of community facilities. However, the application is contrary to the
Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan. The proposal will result in the loss of
25Ha of greenbelt, the coalescence of urban areas (Westhill and Kingswells), is an
inappropriately located development giving rise to unsustainable travel patterns (it has a very
small catchment in terms of access by walking, cycling and public transport compared to other
sequentially preferable sites) and is likely to have a negative impact on the City Centre. The
application clearly comprises a ‘high footfall generating use’ and no justification has been
provided for the need to co-locate the stadium with the training / community facilities and as
a consequence the basis of the sequential test is unsound. The applicant has not
demonstrated that sequentially preferable sites are not available, including sites at Loirston
and Kings Links (identified in the SDP as potential stadium sites), particularly if the proposed
uses were provided in separate locations. As a consequence it does not follow the sequential
‘town centre first’ approach of SPP or accord with the aims and objectives of the SDP.
Author: David Jennings

Date: 4 September 2017

Note: This is a consultation response provided by the Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development
Planning Authority (SDPA) to inform Aberdeen City Council in the exercise of its functions under the Town and
Country Planning Act 1997. The SDPA does not (and cannot) form a view as to whether the application should
be granted or refused. The weight to be attached to this response is a matter for Aberdeen City Council.
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APPENDIX 5
SDPA CONSULTATION RESPONSE
PLANNING PROPOSAL
Local planning authority: Aberdeenshire Council
Proposal: Full Planning Permission for Erection of 37 Dwellinghouses, Provision of
Land for Future Affordable Housing, and Associated Landscaping and Infrastructure
at Westhaven, Cairnbulg
Reference No: APP/2017/0478
Date received: 18 August 2017
Case Officer: Fiona Rendall

Target date: 1 September 2017

STRATEGIC PLANNING OBSERVATIONS
Context
The application is for 49 homes (37 + 12 affordable housing) on a site outside the settlement
boundary at Cairnbulg / Inverallochy, 6km east of Fraserburgh. As a consequence of the site’s
size (4.7Ha) this is a major application under the hierarchy of development.
Strategic Development Plan
The Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan (SDP) was approved by Scottish
Ministers in March 2014 and constitutes part of the development plan (along with the
Aberdeenshire Local Development Plan 2017) against which planning applications must be
assessed. Decisions must be made in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
The SDP’s vision and aims are set out on page 6 of the plan and are for Aberdeen City and
Shire to be an even more attractive, prosperous and sustainable European city region and an
excellent place to live, visit and do business. In addition to seeking to grow and diversify the
regional economy, promote resource efficiency and tackle climate change, it seeks to ensure
we have enough people, homes and jobs, protect our valued assets, create sustainable mixed
communities, reduce the need to travel and promote modal shift (to walking, cycling and public
transport).
In addition to being within the Rural Housing Market Area (RHMA), in terms of the SDP’s
spatial strategy, the application site is within the Local Growth and Diversification Area and
the Regeneration Priority Area. In such areas the SDP sets a housing requirement (SDP
Figure 10) and very generous housing allowances (SDP Figure 5 / Schedule 1). The plan also
anticipates a mix of housing opportunities for everyone where the scale and type of housing
should meet local needs, with a particular focus on the provision of smaller homes but also
improving the economy and the built and natural environment (SDP paras 3.43 and 3.48).
The very generous scale of housing land required by the SDP has been made available in
the Aberdeenshire Local Development Plan (adopted in April 2017) through the identification
of housing allocations in settlements and enabling policies for housing in the countryside.
Housing Land Supply
The 2017 Housing Land Audit was agreed with the house building industry earlier this year
and was reported to the SDPA at its June meeting. This demonstrated a 5.6 year effective
housing land supply in the RHMA, in excess of the requirement of Scottish Planning Policy
(2014). Significant additional land is identified as effective for the period beyond year 5 in the
RHMA (sufficient for a further 5 years) and there are a wide range of currently ‘constrained’
sites which the council is working with partners to bring forward for development. The RHMA
has therefore got a very generous supply of housing land throughout the area. The applicant’s
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supporting statement is misleading in this respect, suggesting that the supply falls short of
requirements – which is not the case.
Cairnbulg/Inverallochy itself has a range of allocated sites in the LDP and it is the review of
that document which will give the opportunity to assess their continued suitability after there
has been an appropriate time to secure their delivery. This review was completed with the
adoption of the LDP earlier this year.
House Type
The market homes proposed by the application are heavily skewed towards larger properties
(3x3 bed, 25x4 bed and 9x5 bed). The applicant has provided no justification for this
distribution which is some way from providing a broad mix of housing opportunities and the
focus on smaller homes in the Local Growth and Diversification Area set out in the SDP. The
fact that the area is also within the Regeneration Priority Area does offer some scope to argue
for a slightly different mix but this has not been done. One consequence of the house type /
size identified in this application is that the density achieved on the site is very low, potentially
failing to make efficient use of the site (but depending on site characteristics).
OTHER OBSERVATIONS AND POLICY CONCLUSION
The application is contrary to the Aberdeen City and Shire SDP as it is for housing outwith
the settlement boundary in an area with a housing land supply in excess of the plan
requirements and where no justification has been provided for the low density housing mix
which is heavily skewed towards larger properties.
Author: David Jennings

Date: 4 September 2017

Note: This is a consultation response provided by the Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development
Planning Authority (SDPA) to inform Aberdeenshire Council in the exercise of its functions under the Town
and Country Planning Act 1997. The SDPA does not (and cannot) form a view as to whether the application
should be granted or refused. The weight to be attached to this response is a matter for Aberdeenshire Council.
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Strategic Development Planning Authority (SDPA) Meeting Venue/Times

MONTH

HOSTED BY

Committee
Officer

DATE

12:30
Pre Meet

2018

March

Aberdeen City
(TH)

M.Masson

Wed 21st

CR2 (TH)

13:15
Shire
Members
Pre Meeting
CR3 (TH)

June

Aberdeenshire
(WH)

J.McRobbie

Wed 27th

Ctte Room5
(WH)

Ctte Room 5 Ctte Room 4 Ctte Room 5
(WH)
(WH)
(WH)

September

Aberdeen City
(TH)

M.Masson

Wed 26th

CR2 (TH)

CR3 (TH)

December

Aberdeenshire
(WH)

J. McRobbie

Wed 19th

Ctte Room5
(WH)

Ctte Room 5 Ctte Room 4 Ctte Room 5
(WH)
(WH)
(WH)

March

Aberdeen City
(TH)

M.Masson

Wed 20th

CR2 (TH)

CR3 (TH)
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YEAR

2019

CR4 (TH)

CR4 (TH)

14:00
Formal
Meeting
CR2 (TH)

CR2 (TH)

CR2 (TH)

Agenda Item 6

TH – Townhouse, Aberdeen
WH – Woodhill House, Aberdeen

13:15
City
Members
Pre Meeting
CR4 (TH)
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